# Free University of Berlin

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science Institute of Mathematics

# A Survey on Interpolation and Projection Operators

A thesis presented for the **Master of Science** 

in

Mathematics

submitted by André-Alexander Zepernick, matriculation number: 5193524, in the summer semester 2023 on April 18, 2023

Supervisor:

Second Reviewer:

Univ.-Prof. Dr. Volker John PD Dr. Alfonso Caiazzo



### Fachbereich Mathematik, Informatik und Physik

### **S**ELBSTSTÄNDIGKEITSERKLÄRUNG

Name:	Zepernick	
Vorname(n):	André-Alexander	(BITTE nur Block- oder Maschinenschrift
Studiengang:	Mathematik, M.Sc.	verwenden.)
Matr. Nr.:	5193524	

 Ich erkläre gegenüber der Freien Universität Berlin, dass ich die vorliegende

 Masterarbeit
 selbstständig und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Quellen

 und Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe.

Die vorliegende Arbeit ist frei von Plagiaten. Alle Ausführungen, die wörtlich oder inhaltlich aus anderen Schriften entnommen sind, habe ich als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Diese Arbeit wurde in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch bei keiner anderen Universität als Prüfungsleistung eingereicht.

Datum: 18.04.2023

Unterschrift: A MM

# Contents

In	trodu	iction	i											
1	Pre	liminaries	1											
	1.1	Domains and Meshes	1											
		1.1.1 Geometrically Conformal Meshes	5											
	1.2	Finite Elements	5											
	1.3	Interpolation Operators in General	7											
	1.4	Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces	9											
		1.4.1 Lebesgue Spaces	9											
		1.4.2 Sobolev Spaces	11											
	1.5	Embedding	12											
	1.6	Error Bounds for Interpolation in Sobolev Spaces	13											
2	The	Lagrange Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{L}$	15											
	2.1	The One-Dimensional Case	15											
		2.1.1 Interpolation Using Polynomials of Degree 1	15											
		2.1.2 Interpolation with Higher-Degree Polynomials	20											
	2.2	On the $L^p$ -Stability of the Lagrange interpolant	26											
	2.3	Extension of the Lagrange Interpolation Operator to Higher Dimensions	27											
	2.4	Error Bounds	29											
		2.4.1 Error Bound Involving the Lebesgue Constant	29											
		2.4.2 Error Bounds for Interpolation in $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$	29											
3	The	The Clément Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_h^{Cle}$ 3												
	3.1	Construction of the Clément Interpolation Operator	31											
	3.2	Stability and Approximation Estimates	32											
4	The	The Scott-Zhang Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}$ 34												
	4.1	Construction of the Scott-Zhang Interpolation Operator	34											
Z	4.2	Stability and Approximation Properties												
5	L <sup>2</sup> - <b>C</b>	<i>L</i> <sup>2</sup> -Orthogonal Projection $\pi_{L^2}$ 37												
	5.1	.1 The Ordinary $L^2$ Projection												
	5.2	The Weighted $L^2$ Projection	39											
		5.2.1 No Internal Cross Points	40											
		5.2.2 Error Estimates Using "Finer" Finite Elements	42											
		5.2.3 Error Estimates for Functions in $H^1$	43											

### **6** The Elliptic Projector $\pi_{H^1}$

### 7 Conclusion

44

### Introduction

The finite element method (FEM) is a very popular approach in order to discretize partial differential equations, which is based on their variational forms. It plays a dominating role in modern computer science and engineering (cf. [17]) and is the source of many theoretical explorations, especially in the theory of solving partial differential equations, which this thesis will focus on.

The idea is to transform the partial differential equation into a variational form. This is done by multiplying the strong form of the equation with a test function, integrating the equation over the domain  $\Omega$  and to use integration by parts. The variational form of the partial differential equation weakens the regularity assumptions for the solution and uses functions in Sobolev<sup>1</sup> spaces. The solution of the resulting equations then needs to be approximated using the Ritz<sup>2</sup> method (cf. remark B.5 in [15]). This process of approximating the solution is called interpolation and plays a key role in the finite element method. Instead of approximating the unknown solution of the variational problem over an often complicated domain, one divides the domain into smaller subdomains, called finite elements, and approximates the solution of the variational problem over each element using "simpler" functions. Interpolation is therefore a central component of the finite element method, as it enables the construction of accurate and efficient numerical solutions to partial differential equations over complicated domains.

When it comes to the interpolation one needs to make a choice on the interpolation method that is used. A very common choice is the polynomial interpolation also often referred to as Lagrange<sup>3</sup> interpolation. Its popularity is due to its simplicity since it is very easy to apply and to implement. However, the Lagrange interpolation operator cannot be used in the case of non-smooth functions. That is why Clément<sup>4</sup> (1975) came up with another interpolation operator, which is based on local regularization and thus combines the ideas of the Lagrange interpolation and the  $L^2$  projection (cf. [1]). So the Clément interpolation cures some difficulties of the Lagrange interpolation operator but comes with some other disadvantages. One of them being the issue that the interpolation operator constructed by Clément does not preserve homogenous boundary conditions.

Hence, another proposal was made for an interpolation operator that can be used to approximate non-smooth functions and preserves homogenous boundary conditions. It was constructed by Scott<sup>5</sup>-Zhang<sup>6</sup> (1990) in [3] and performs local projections on either an element or a facet (cf. p.483 in [3]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Sergei Sobolev (1908-1989) was a Soviet mathematician working in mathematical analysis and partial differential equations (cf. [21]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Walther Ritz (1878-1909) was a Swiss theoretical physicist (cf. [41]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Joseph-Luis Lagrange (1736-1813) was an Italian mathematician and astronomer (cf. [34]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Philippe P.J.E. Clément is a French mathematician who is working as an emeritus professor at the Delft University of Technology (cf. [23]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>L. Ridgway Scott (\*1948) is an American mathematician who is working as an emeritus professor at the University of Chicago (cf. [22]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Shangyou Zhang is a mathematician who is working as a professor at the University of Delaware (cf. [24]).

Instead of interpolation, also projection operators can be used. Examples are the  $L^2$  orthogonal projection or the elliptic projection operator, which means the  $L^2$  projection of the gradient. Both of them have the advantage of being quite easy to implement.

This thesis presents the basic ideas of the named interpolation and projection operators and explains their constructions if necessary. Furthermore, this thesis explores their approximation and stability properties in Sobolev spaces and gives some local as well as global interpolation error estimates.

This master thesis is divided into different chapters. In the first chapter the basic notions on domains and meshes, the finite element method and the theory behind interpolation operators are given. In addition, the most important definitions and results from the theory of Lebesgue<sup>7</sup> and Sobolev spaces are getting recalled. In the end of this chapter some general local as well as global error bounds for the interpolation in Sobolev spaces will be given.

In the second chapter the Lagrange interpolation operator will be introduced. In order to understand the construction of this operator and the ideas of proving interpolation and stability estimates the one-dimensional case will be discussed first. Then the concept of this interpolation operator will be generalized to the usage of higher degree polynomials. Also the  $L^p$ -stability of the Lagrange interpolant will be discussed. After extending the idea of the Lagrange interpolant to higher dimensions using barycentric coordinates, different error bounds for the interpolation in Sobolev spaces based on some results from the first chapter will be presented.

The third chapter deals with the construction of the Clément interpolation operator, which will be discussed in a very general setting. Moreover, stability and approximation estimates will be given.

The next chapter is then concerned with an interpolation operator based on the ideas of the Clément interpolation, namely the interpolation operator by Scott-Zhang. Here the construction as well as the stability and approximation properties will be analyzed.

The fifth chapter introduces the notion of the  $L^2$ -orthogonal projection. At first, the ordinary  $L^2$ projection will be explained and some stability and approximation results will be proven. Then also a
weighted version of the  $L^2$  projection will be considered. Again, stability and interpolation estimates
will be presented.

The sixth chapter deals with the elliptic projection. The idea of this operator will be described and its stability and approximation properties will be stated.

Finally, a conclusion will be drawn in the last chapter. There the main results will be recalled again and it will be tried to compare the different approximation and stability properties of the interpolation and projection operators. In the end there will be an outlook on further possible investigations. This thesis is mainly based on the content in [10] and in [19]. Many definitions have also been taken from [15]. Section 5.2 is based on the presentation in [4]. The sources of the definitions and statements are mentioned next to them. If not stated otherwise the proof ideas were taken from the stated source of the statement. In the footnotes references are given for several definitions that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Henri Léon Lebesgue (1875-1941) was a French mathematician (cf. [32]).

were assumed to be clear for the interested reader. Information about mathematicians were taken from Wikipedia or their individual webpages.

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Volker John for his advice in finding a suitable topic as well as for his very helpful support and flexibility throughout the process of writing this thesis. I'm also grateful to Prof. Shangyou Zhang from the University of Delaware for taking the time to answer some of my questions on the material covered in this thesis.

### **1** Preliminaries

As explained in the introduction, the key idea in the theory of finite elements is that we will look at domains that get decomposed or triangulated by a mesh, so that one can later interpolate functions locally on each of the mesh cells. We will now define those basic notions.

#### 1.1 Domains and Meshes

The definitions and examples presented here are taken from sections 1.2 and 1.3 in [10], section 11.1 in [19] as well as from the appendix in [15].

**Definition 1.1.1** (Domain, domain with Lipschitz boundary). [10, Def.1.46]. In dimension 1, a domain is an open, bounded interval. In dimension  $d \ge 2$  a domain with Lipschitz boundary is an open<sup>8</sup>, bounded<sup>9</sup>, connected<sup>10</sup> set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  such that its boundary  $\partial \Omega = \overline{\Omega} \setminus \overset{\circ}{\Omega}$ , where  $\overline{\Omega}$  denotes the closure<sup>11</sup> and  $\overset{\circ}{\Omega}$  means the interior<sup>12</sup> of  $\Omega$ , satisfies the following property:

There are  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ , a finite number R of local coordinate systems  $x^r = (x^{r'}, x^r_d), 1 \le r \le R$ , where  $x^{r'} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  and  $x^r_d \in \mathbb{R}$ , and R local maps  $\phi^r$  that are Lipschitz<sup>13</sup> continuous<sup>14</sup> on their definition domain  $\{x^{r'} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \mid |x^{r'}| < \alpha\}$  and such that

$$\partial \Omega = \bigcup_{r=1}^{R} \{ (x^{r'}, x_d^r) \mid x_d^r = \phi^r(x^{r'}) \text{ and } |x^{r'}| < \alpha \},$$
  
$$\forall r : \{ (x^{r'}, x_d^r) \mid \phi^r(x^{r'}) < x_d^r < \phi^r(x^{r'}) + \beta \text{ and } |x^{r'}| < \alpha \} \subset \Omega \text{ as well as}$$
  
$$\forall r : \{ (x^{r'}, x_d^r) \mid \phi^r(x^{r'}) - \beta < x_d^r < \phi^r(x^{r'}) \text{ and } |x^{r'}| < \alpha \} \subset \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \overline{\Omega},$$

where  $|x^{r'}| \leq \alpha$  means that  $|x_i^{r'}| \leq \alpha$  for all  $1 \leq i \leq d-1$ .



Figure 1: An example for a domain with a slit.

<sup>13</sup>Rudolf Lipschitz (1832-1903) was a German mathematician who made contributions to mathematical analysis and differential geometry, as well as number theory, algebras with involution and classical mechanics (cf. [38]).

 $^{14}$ See definition on p.165 in [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See definition on p.8 in [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See definition on p.96 in [42].

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ See definition on p.793 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See definition on p.15 in [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See definition on p.15 in [16].

**Remark 1.1.2** (On the definition of a domain). (i) If not stated otherwise we will assume throughout this thesis that the considered domains are domains with Lipschitz boundary.

(ii) An implication of this definition is that a domain is located on exactly one side of its boundary  $\partial\Omega$ . That means in particular that sets with slits or cuts, as shown in figure 1, are not included.

**Definition 1.1.3** (Polygon, polyhedron). [10, Def.1.47]. In dimension 1, a *polyhedron* is a compact interval. In dimension 2, a *polyhedron*, also called a *polygon*, is a domain, whose boundary is a finite union of segments. In dimension 3, a *polyhedron* is a domain whose boundary is a finite union of polygons.

**Remark 1.1.4** (On the terminology). In the literature one often finds the terms polyhedron and polygon used interchangeably.

**Remark 1.1.5** (Extension to arbitrary dimensions). One can extend the definition of a polyhedron to any dimension *d* using induction. One makes the observation that a polyhedron in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is a domain which has a boundary that is just a finite union of polyhedra in  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  (cf. remark 1.48 (iii) in [10]).

**Definition 1.1.6** (Mesh). [10, Def.1.49]. Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . A *mesh* is a union of a finite number N of compact<sup>15</sup>, connected, Lipschitz sets<sup>16</sup>  $K_m$  with non-empty interior such that  $\{K_m\}_{1 \le m \le N}$  forms a partition of  $\Omega$ , i.e.,

$$\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{m=1}^{N} K_m \text{ and } \overset{\circ}{K}_m \cap \overset{\circ}{K}_n = \emptyset \text{ for } m \neq n.$$

A mesh  $\{K_m\}_{1 \le m \le N}$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{T}_h$ , where the subscript refers to the refinement level of the mesh. We set

$$orall K \in \mathcal{T}_h: h_{\mathcal{K}} = \mathsf{diam}(\mathcal{K}) = \max_{x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{K}} ||x_2 - x_1||_d,$$

where diam(K) means the diameter of K and  $|| \cdot ||_d$  denotes the Euclidean<sup>17</sup> norm<sup>18</sup> in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Furthermore we define

$$h:=\max_{K\in\mathcal{T}_h}h_K.$$

A sequence of successively refined meshes will be written as  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$ .

**Definition 1.1.7** (Mesh cells, faces, edges, vertices). [15, Rmk. B.16]. A mesh cell K is a compact polyhedron in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \in \{2, 3\}$ , whose interior is not empty. The boundary  $\partial K$  of K consists of *m*-dimensional linear manifolds<sup>19</sup> (points, pieces of straight lines, pieces of planes),  $0 \le m \le d - 1$ , which are called *m*-faces. The 0-faces are the *vertices* of the mesh cell, the 1-faces are the *edges*, and the (d - 1)-faces are called *facets*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See definition on p.37 in [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>See definition 3.2 on p.27 in [19].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Euclid (fl. 300 BC) was an ancient Greek mathematician active as a geometer and logician (cf. [29]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>See definition on p.5 in [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>See definition 5.1 on p.142 in [12].

**Remark 1.1.8** (Mesh cells in one dimension). It is clear that the mesh cells in one dimension are just the subintervals, which decompose the domain. We will use this in section 2.1 to construct a suitable mesh.

**Example 1.1.9** (A mesh on the unit square). An example of a mesh can be seen in figure 2. Here the unit square was equipped with a mesh consisting of triangles and quadrangles. Of course this is just one example for a possible mesh on the unit square.



Figure 2: A possible mesh of the unit square in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  (inspired by figure 1.11 in [10]).

**Remark 1.1.10** (Reference cells and geometric transformations). Usually a mesh will be generated by a *reference cell*, which we denote by  $\widehat{K}$ , through geometric transformations  $T_m : \widehat{K} \longrightarrow K_m$ ,  $K_m \in \mathcal{T}_h$ , that map the reference cell to the other mesh cells  $K_m$ . We make the assumption that the geometric transformations, which we will be using throughout this thesis, are  $\mathcal{C}^1$ -diffeomorphisms<sup>20</sup>.

**Remark 1.1.11** (Transformations of higher degrees). In this thesis we will only consider the case of geometric transformations of degree 1. The case of domains with curved boundaries, where one needs geometric transformations of higher degrees, will not be treated here. The interested reader may consult p.35 in [10].

Since we will consider simplicial meshes most of the time, we will now define the notion of a simplex. Examples of simplices will be given.

**Definition 1.1.12** (Simplices). [10, p.21]. Let  $\{a_0, ..., a_d\}$  be a family of points in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 1$ . Furthermore let the vectors  $\{a_1 - a_0, ..., a_d - a_0\}$  be linearly independent. Then, the convex hull<sup>21</sup> of  $\{a_0, ..., a_d\}$  is called a *simplex*, and the points  $\{a_0, ..., a_d\}$  are called *vertices* of the simplex.

**Remark 1.1.13** (Choice of the reference point  $a_0$ ). Note that the choice of the reference point  $a_0$  is not of importance.

**Example 1.1.14** (The unit simplex). [10, p.21]. The *unit simplex* of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is the set

$$\Delta^d := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid x_i \ge 0, 1 \le i \le d \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^d x_i \le 1 \right\}.$$

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ For a definition see p.3 in [12].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>See p.231 in [11].



Figure 3: One-dimensional and two-dimensional simplices.

**Definition 1.1.15** (Affine meshes). [10, Def.1.53]. If the transformations  $T_m$  that transform the reference mesh cell to the *m*-th mesh cell, i.e.,  $T_m(\widehat{K}) = K_m$  with  $m \in \{1, ..., N\}$ , are affine<sup>22</sup>, then the mesh is called *affine*. In two dimensions, if the reference cell  $\widehat{K}$  is a simplex, an *affine mesh* is also often referred to as a *triangulation*.

**Remark 1.1.16** (On the term triangulation). One should add that there is the convention in the literature that the term *triangulation* is often used in any dimension for an affine and simplicial mesh.

**Definition 1.1.17** (Affine mapping from reference simplex in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ). The affine mapping in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  that maps the reference simplex  $\widehat{K} = {\{\widehat{a}_i\}_{0 \le i \le d}}$  to another simplex  $K = {\{a_i\}_{0 \le i \le d}}$  is given by  $x = a_0 + J_{T_K} \widehat{x}$  with

$$J_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{K}}} := \left[\frac{\partial T_{\mathcal{K}}^{i}}{\partial x_{j}}\right]_{ij}$$

given by column vectors  $(a_j - a_0)$ .

**Remark 1.1.18** (Assumptions). Throughout this thesis we assume the reference cell  $\hat{K}$ , from which the considered mesh is generated, to be a polyhedron. Commonly used reference cells are given by the unit interval in dimension 1 and by the unit simplex (cf. example 1.1.14) or the unit square in dimension 2. In dimension 3 one may choose the three-dimensional unit simplex or the unit cube.

**Definition 1.1.19** (Shape regularity). [19, Def.11.2]. A sequence of affine meshes  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  is called *shape-regular* if there exists a constant  $C_1$  such that for all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  and for all h one has

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{K}} := \frac{h_{\mathcal{K}}}{\rho_{\mathcal{K}}} \le C_1$$

with  $\rho_K$  being the diameter of the largest ball contained in K.

**Definition 1.1.20** (Quasi-uniform meshes). [19, Def.22.20]. A sequence of shape-regular meshes  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  is called *quasi-uniform* if there exists a constant  $C_2$  such that for all h and for all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  it holds that

$$C_2h\leq h_K$$

<sup>22</sup>See p.254 in [11].

#### 1.1.1 Geometrically Conformal Meshes

**Definition 1.1.21** (Geometrically conformal meshes). [10, Def.1.55]. Let  $\Omega$  be a domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ and let  $\mathcal{T}_h = \{K_m\}_{1 \le m \le N}$  be a mesh of  $\Omega$ . The mesh  $\mathcal{T}_h$  is called *geometrically conformal* if the following matching criterion is satisfied:

For all mesh cells  $K_m$  and  $K_n$  having a non-empty (d-1)-dimensional intersection  $F = K_m \cap K_n$ , there is a face  $\widehat{F}$  of  $\widehat{K}$  and renumberings of the geometric nodes of  $K_m$  and  $K_n$  such that  $F = T_m(\widehat{F}) = T_n(\widehat{F})$  and

$$T_{m|\widehat{F}} = T_{n|\widehat{F}}$$

for transformations  $T_m$  and  $T_n$ .

**Remark 1.1.22** (Implications of the definition for connected domains). [10, Rmk. 1.56]. For a connected domain  $\Omega$  the definition of a geometrically conformal mesh tells us that for any two distinct cells  $\{K_i, K_j\}$  with  $i \neq j$ , the intersection of the two mesh cells  $K_i \cap K_j$  is

(i) either empty or a common vertex in dimension 1;

(ii) either empty or a common vertex or a common edge in dimension 2;

(iii) either empty or a common vertex or a common edge or a common face in dimension 3.

**Remark 1.1.23** (Assumption on the domains). In this thesis we will only consider connected domains.

**Example 1.1.24** (Counterexample). We want to visualize the meaning of the definition of a geometrically conformal mesh. Looking at figure 4 we notice that due to the red node this mesh is not a geometrically conformal mesh since this node does not belong to the nodes of  $K_1$ . Remark 1.1.22 (ii) is violated.



Figure 4: A mesh in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  that is not geometrically conformal.

### **1.2 Finite Elements**

In the introduction it was described that we will interpret interpolation as a part of the finite element method. Therefore we will shortly introduce the most important terminology of this theory. For a

more extensive introduction to the theory of finite elements we refer to [13] or [19]. The material presented here was taken from section 5.2 in [19] and the appendix in [15].

**Definition 1.2.1** (Finite elements). [19, Def.5.2]. Let  $d \ge 1$ , an integer  $n_{sh} \ge 1$ , and the set  $N := \{1, ..., n_{sh}\}$ . A *finite element* consists of a triple  $(K, P, \Sigma)$  where

(i) K is a polyhedron in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,

(ii) P is a finite-dimensional vector space<sup>23</sup> of functions  $p : K \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^q$  for some integer  $q \ge 1$  and (iii)  $\Sigma$  is a set of  $n_{sh}$  linear forms from P to  $\mathbb{R}$ , i.e.,  $\Sigma = \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in N}$ , such that the map  $\Phi_{\Sigma} : P \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n_{sh}}$  defined by  $\Phi_{\Sigma}(p) = (\sigma_i(p))_{i \in N}$  is an isomorphism<sup>24</sup>. The linear forms  $\sigma_i$  are called *degrees of freedom* and the bijectivity<sup>25</sup> of the map  $\Phi_{\Sigma}$  is named *unisolvence*.

**Remark 1.2.2** (On this definition). (i) This definition is due to Ciarlet. The interested reader may look into [5].

(ii) A slightly more general version of this definition is definition 5.2 in [19].

**Remark 1.2.3** (Basis of  $\mathcal{L}(P; \mathbb{R})$ ). From part (iii) of the prior definition it follows that  $\Sigma$  is a basis of the space of linear forms over P, which we denote by  $\mathcal{L}(P; \mathbb{R})$ . One finds for the dimension of the space of linear forms over P that dim $(\mathcal{L}(P; \mathbb{R})) = \dim(P) = n_{sh}$ . Note that the dimension of P is equal to the cardinality<sup>26</sup> of the set  $\Sigma$  (cf. remark 5.4 in [19] and p.20 in [10]).

**Proposition 1.2.4** (Shape functions). [19, Prop. 5.5]. There is a basis  $\{\vartheta_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  of the vector space P such that

$$\forall i, j \in N : \sigma_i(\vartheta_i) := \delta_{ij}$$

with  $\delta_{ij}$  denoting the Kronecker<sup>27</sup> symbol. The functions  $\vartheta_i$  are called shape functions.

*Proof.* This follows directly from the bijectivity of the map from part (iii) in the definition of finite elements from above (cf. def. 1.2.1 (iii)).  $\Box$ 

**Definition 1.2.5** (Parametric finite elements). [15, Def. B.27]. Let  $\widehat{K}$  be a reference mesh cell with the local polynomial space  $\widehat{P}(\widehat{K})$ , the local linear forms  $\widehat{\sigma}_1, ..., \widehat{\sigma}_{\widehat{N}}$  and a class of bijective mappings  $\{T_K : \widehat{K} \longrightarrow K\}$ . A finite element space is called a *parametric finite element space* if: (i) The images  $\{K\}$  of  $\{T_K\}$  form the set of mesh cells.

(ii) The local spaces are given by

$$P(K) = \{ p \mid p = \widehat{p} \circ T_K^{-1}, \widehat{p} \in \widehat{P}(\widehat{K}) \}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Compare p.190 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>See definition on p.72 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>See definition on p.44 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>See definition on p.40 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Leopold Kronecker (1823-1891) was a German mathematician who worked on number theory, algebra and logic (cf. [35]).

(iii) The local linear forms are defined by

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{K},i}(\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})) = \widehat{\sigma}_i(\widehat{\mathbf{v}}(\widehat{\mathbf{x}})) = \widehat{\sigma}_i(\mathbf{v}(\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{K}}(\widehat{\mathbf{x}}))),$$

where  $\hat{x} = (\hat{x}_1, ..., \hat{x}_d)^T$  are the coordinates of the reference mesh cell and it holds  $x = T_K(\hat{x})$  as well as  $\hat{v} = v \circ T_K$ .

### **1.3** Interpolation Operators in General

In this section we will develop the basic terminology in order to talk about interpolation operators. The content we are going to present is taken from sections 5.3 and 5.5 in [19].

**Definition 1.3.1** (Interpolation operator). [19, Def. 5.7]. Let  $(K, P, \Sigma)$  be a finite element (cf. def. 1.2.1). Assume that there exists a Banach<sup>28</sup> space<sup>29</sup>  $V(K) \subset L^1(K; \mathbb{R}^q)$  such that (i)  $P \subset V(K)$ ;

(ii) the linear forms  $\{\sigma_i\}_{i\in N}$  can be extended to  $\mathcal{L}(V(K); \mathbb{R})$ , i.e., there exist  $\{\tilde{\sigma}_i\}_{i\in N}$  and  $c_{\Sigma}$  such that  $\tilde{\sigma}_i(p) = \sigma_i(p)$  for all  $p \in P$ , and  $|\tilde{\sigma}_i(v)| \leq c_{\Sigma} ||v||_{V(K)}$  for all  $v \in V(K)$  and all  $i \in N$ . We will abuse the notation and use  $\sigma_i$  instead of  $\tilde{\sigma}_i$ .

The interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}: V(K) \longrightarrow P$  will be defined by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(oldsymbol{v})(x) := \sum_{i \in oldsymbol{N}} \sigma_i(oldsymbol{v}) artheta_i(x) \; orall x \in oldsymbol{K},$$

for all  $v \in V(K)$ .

**Proposition 1.3.2** (Boundedness). [19, Prop. 5.8]. The interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}$ , which we just defined, lies in the vector space of the bounded linear operators from V(K) to P, i.e.,  $\mathcal{I}_{K} \in \mathcal{L}(V(K); P)$ .

*Proof.* We consider a norm  $|| \cdot ||_P$  in P. Using the representation of the interpolation operator from above, the triangle inequality<sup>30</sup> and part (ii) of the prior definition we see that

$$||\mathcal{I}_{K}(\mathbf{v})||_{P} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} ||\sum_{i \in N} \sigma_{i}(\mathbf{v})\vartheta_{i}||_{P} \stackrel{\triangle-\text{inequality}}{\leq} \sum_{i \in N} ||\sigma_{i}(\mathbf{v})\vartheta_{i}||_{P} \stackrel{1.3.1(\text{ii})}{\leq} (c_{\Sigma} \sum_{i \in N} ||\vartheta_{i}||_{P})||\mathbf{v}||_{V(K)}$$
$$\square$$

**Proposition 1.3.3** (*P*-invariance). [19, Prop. 5.9]. The space *P* is pointwise invariant under  $\mathcal{I}_{K}$ , *i.e.*,  $\mathcal{I}_{K}(p) = p$  for all  $p \in P$ .

for al

 $<sup>^{28}</sup>$  Stefan Banach (1892-1945) was a Polish mathematician (cf. [39]).  $^{29}$  See definition on p. 803 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>cf. p.111 in [11].

*Proof.* We want to make use of proposition 1.2.4. Therefore let  $p = \sum_{i \in N} \alpha_i \vartheta_i$ . Then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(\boldsymbol{p}) = \sum_{i,j\in N} \alpha_j \sigma_i(\vartheta_j) \vartheta_i \stackrel{\mathsf{prop.1.2.4}}{=} \sum_{i,j\in N} \alpha_j \delta_{ij} \vartheta_i = \boldsymbol{p}$$

by the property of the shape functions and the definition of the Kronecker delta  $\delta_{ij}$ . Hence, the statement is verified. One says that the interpolation operator fulfills the projection property.

**Remark 1.3.4** (Choices for V(K)). [19, Example 5.10]. If we use the values of the given function v at some points on the mesh cell K for defining the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}(v)$  then a suitable choice for V(K) is the space of continuous functions from K to  $\mathbb{R}^{q}$  which we write as  $\mathcal{C}^{0}(K; \mathbb{R}^{q})$ . It is also common and for our discussions of highest interest to make the choice  $V(K) := W^{k,p}(K; \mathbb{R}^{q})$  for some real numbers  $k \geq 0$  and  $p \in [1, \infty]$  such that kp > d. We will define the notion of this space in the next section (cf. def. 1.4.8).

We have seen that the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}$  is an element in the space  $\mathcal{L}(V(K); P)$  (cf. Prop. 1.3.2), i.e.,  $\mathcal{I}_{K}$  is a bounded linear operator from V(K) to P. Since P is a subspace of V(K) we know that P can be equipped with the norm of V(K). Thus, one can view  $\mathcal{I}_{K}$  as an element in  $\mathcal{L}(V(K))$ .

Definition 1.3.5 (Lebesgue constant). [19, p.55]. The quantity

$$||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}||_{\mathcal{L}(V(\mathcal{K}))} := \sup_{v \in V(\mathcal{K}) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(v)||_{V(\mathcal{K})}}{||v||_{V(\mathcal{K})}}$$

is called *Lebesgue constant* for  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}$ .

**Lemma 1.3.6** (Lower bound of the Lebesgue constant). [19, Lemma 5.13]. The Lebesgue constant is bounded from below. In other words, it holds that

$$||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K}))} \geq 1.$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we note that P is nontrivial. It was proven in proposition 1.3.3 that the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}$  is P-invariant, i.e.,  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(p) = p$  for all  $p \in P$ . Hence, we can conclude that

$$\sup_{v \in V(\mathcal{K}) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(v)||_{V(\mathcal{K})}}{||v||_{V(\mathcal{K})}} \ge \sup_{p \in P} \frac{||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(p)||_{V(\mathcal{K})}}{||p||_{V(\mathcal{K})}} = \sup_{p \in P} \frac{||p||_{V(\mathcal{K})}}{||p||_{V(\mathcal{K})}} = 1.$$

**Theorem 1.3.7** (Interpolation error involving the Lebesgue constant). [19, Thm.5.14]. For all functions  $v \in V(K)$  it holds that

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(v)||_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})} \leq \left(1 + ||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K}))}\right) \inf_{p \in P} ||v - p||_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})}$$

and if V(K) is a Hilbert space it further holds that

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_{\kappa}(v)||_{V(\kappa)} \leq ||\mathcal{I}_{\kappa}||_{\mathcal{L}(V(\kappa))} \inf_{p \in P} ||v - p||_{V(\kappa)}.$$

*Proof.* We know that by the projection property of the interpolation operator it holds for all  $p \in P$  that  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(p) = p$  (see prop. 1.3.3). Hence, we are allowed to write

$$v - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(v) = (\mathsf{Id}_{V(\mathcal{K})} - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}})(v) = (\mathsf{Id}_{V(\mathcal{K})} - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}})(v - p)$$

with  $Id_{V(K)}$  being the identity operator in V(K).

Using the boundedness of  $(Id_{V(K)} - I_K)$  and then invoking the triangle inequality we obtain

$$||\mathbf{v} - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathbf{v})||_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})} \leq ||(\mathsf{Id}_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})} - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}})(\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{p})||_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})} \leq (1 + ||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}||_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K}))})||\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{p}||_{\mathcal{V}(\mathcal{K})}.$$

Now taking the infimum over  $p \in P$  gives us the first inequality.

For the other estimate we assume that V(K) is a Hilbert space. The proof relies on the fact that in a Hilbert space H an operator  $T \in \mathcal{L}(H)$  with  $0 \neq T \circ T = T \neq Id$  fulfills the equality

$$||T||_{\mathcal{L}(H)} = ||\mathsf{Id} - T||_{\mathcal{L}(H)}.$$

For a proof of this statement see Lemma 5 in [9].

We are going to use this result with H := V(K) and  $T := \mathcal{I}_K$ . It is true that  $\mathcal{I}_K \neq 0$  because P is nontrivial. Furthermore it holds that  $\mathcal{I}_K \neq \operatorname{Id}_{V(K)}$  due to the fact that P is a proper subset of V(K). Also observe that  $\mathcal{I}_K \circ \mathcal{I}_K = \mathcal{I}_K$  by again using the P-invariance of the interpolation operator. Now applying the mentioned result we find

$$||\mathbf{v} - \mathcal{I}_k(\mathbf{v})||_{V(K)} \leq ||\mathbf{Id}_{V(K)} - \mathcal{I}_K||_{\mathcal{L}(V(K))}||\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{p}||_{V(K)} = ||\mathcal{I}_K||_{\mathcal{L}(V(K))}||\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{p}||_{V(K)}.$$

Finally, we obtain the desired estimate by again taking the infimum over all  $p \in P$ .

**Remark 1.3.8** (On the interpolation error). The just proven estimate indicates that a large Lebesgue constant corresponds to a bad approximation behavior of the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{\kappa}$ .

### 1.4 Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces

Since we want to investigate the properties of the interpolation operators in Sobolev spaces, we introduce them together with Lebesgue spaces in a concise way. This section is based on the appendix B in [10] and the appendix A in [15].

#### 1.4.1 Lebesgue Spaces

**Definition 1.4.1** (Lebesgue spaces). [15, Def.A.27]. The space of functions that are Lebesgue integrable on  $\Omega$  to the power of  $p \in [1, \infty)$  is denoted by

$$L^p(\Omega) = \left\{ f \mid \int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^p \mathsf{d} x < \infty 
ight\},$$

which is equipped with the norm

$$||f||_{L^p(\Omega)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^p \mathrm{d}x\right)^{1/p}$$

For  $p = \infty$ , this space is given by

 $L^{\infty}(\Omega) = \{f \mid |f(x)| < \infty \text{ almost everywhere in } \Omega\}$ 

with the norm

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} = \mathrm{ess} \sup_{x\in\Omega} |f(x)| = \inf_{N\subset\Omega,\mu(N)=0} \sup_{x\in\Omega\setminus N} |f(x)|,$$

where ess sup is called the essential supremum and  $\mu$  denotes the Lebesgue measure<sup>31</sup> on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

**Example 1.4.2**  $(L^1(\Omega))$ . For p = 1 one has  $L^1(\Omega)$ , which is the space consisting of the scalar-valued functions that are Lebesgue-integrable over the domain  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 1.4.3** (The space of locally integrable functions). [10, Def. B.2] Let  $\mathbb{M}(\Omega)$  denote the space of equivalence classes of functions, where two functions belong to the same equivalence class if they coincide almost everywhere, i.e. everywhere but on a set of zero Lebesgue measure. Then the space of locally integrable functions  $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  is defined as

$$L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) = \{ f \in \mathbb{M}(\Omega) \mid orall K \subset \Omega \; \; \mathsf{compact}, f \in L^1(K) \}.$$

**Theorem 1.4.4** (Hölder's<sup>32</sup> inequality). [10, Thm. B.6]. Let  $f \in L^p(\Omega)$  and  $g \in L^q(\Omega)$  with  $1 \le p \le +\infty$  and  $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$ . Then  $fg \in L^1(\Omega)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} |fg| dx \leq ||f||_{L^p(\Omega)} ||g||_{L^q(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. See p.11 in [18].

**Corollary 1.4.5** (Interpolation inequality). [10, Cor. B.7]. Let  $1 \le p \le q \le +\infty$  and  $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ . Let r be such that  $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{\alpha}{p} + \frac{(1-\alpha)}{q}$ . Then

$$orall f\in L^p(\Omega)\cap L^q(\Omega): ||f||_{L^r(\Omega)}\leq ||f||^lpha_{L^p(\Omega)} ||f||^{1-lpha}_{L^q(\Omega)}.$$

A very important Lebesgue space is the space of square-integrable functions  $L^2(\Omega)$ . The following theorem is one reason for the important role of this space.

**Theorem 1.4.6** (The space of square-integrable functions). [10, Thm. B.9]. The space of squareintegrable functions  $L^2(\Omega)$  is a Hilbert space when equipped with the scalar product

$$(f,g)_{L^2(\Omega)} := \int_{\Omega} fg dx$$

and the corresponding norm

$$||f||_{L^2(\Omega)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} f^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>See definition A.2.1 on p.544 in [18].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>Otto Hölder (1859-1937) was a German mathematician (cf. [37]).

*Proof.* This is a consequence of the Fischer<sup>33</sup>-Riesz<sup>34</sup> Theorem.

**Remark 1.4.7** (Cauchy-Schwarz inequality). In  $L^2(\Omega)$  the Hölder inequality becomes the so-called Cauchy<sup>35</sup>-Schwarz<sup>36</sup> inequality:

$$\forall f, g \in L^{2}(\Omega) : (f, g)_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \leq ||f||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} ||g||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}.$$

#### 1.4.2 Sobolev Spaces

**Definition 1.4.8** (Sobolev spaces). [15, Def. A.30]. Let  $s \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , then the Sobolev space  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$  is defined by

$$W^{s,p}(\Omega) := \{ u \in L^p(\Omega) \mid D^{\alpha}u \in L^p(\Omega), \forall \alpha : |\alpha| \le s \}.$$

This space is equipped with the norm

$$||u||_{W^{s,p}(\Omega)} := \sum_{|\alpha| \leq s} ||D^{\alpha}u||_{L^p(\Omega)}.$$

We also use the notation  $H^{s}(\Omega) := W^{s,2}(\Omega)$ , which is a Hilbert<sup>37</sup> space<sup>38</sup> with the inner product<sup>39</sup>

$$(u,v)_{H^s(\Omega)} = \sum_{|lpha| \leq s} \int_{\Omega} D^{lpha} u(x) D^{lpha} v(x) \mathsf{d}x$$

and the induced<sup>40</sup> norm

$$||u||_{H^{\mathfrak{s}}(\Omega)}=(u, u)^{1/2}_{H^{k}(\Omega)}.$$

**Example 1.4.9**  $(H^1(\Omega))$ . [10, Example B.28]. The space  $H^1(\Omega) = \{u \in L^2(\Omega) \mid \partial_i u \in L^2(\Omega), 1 \le i \le d\}$  equipped with the scalar product

$$(u, v)_{H^{1}(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} uv \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\Omega} uv \, \mathrm{d}x + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{\Omega} \partial_{i} u \partial_{i} v \, \mathrm{d}x$$

is a Hilbert space.

The corresponding norm is given by

$$\frac{||u||_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2}}{=\int_{\Omega} u^{2} dx} + \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u)^{2} dx = ||u||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + |u|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

<sup>33</sup>Ernst Sigismund Fischer (1875-1954) was an Austrian mathematician (cf. [28]).

<sup>34</sup>Frigyes Riesz (1880-1956) was a Hungarian mathematician (cf. [31]).

<sup>35</sup>Augustin-Louis Cauchy (1789-1857) was a French mathematician (cf. [25]).

<sup>36</sup>Hermann Amandus Schwarz (1843-1921) was a German mathematician (cf. [33]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>David Hilbert (1862-1943) was a German mathematician and one of the most influential mathematicians of the 19th and early 20th century (cf. [27]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>See definition on p.810 in [11].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>See definition A.5. on p.464 in [10].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>See example (1.5) on p.6 in [16].

**Definition 1.4.10** (Fractional Sobolev spaces). [10, Def. B.30]. For 0 < s < 1 and 1 the*Sobolev space with fractional exponent*is defined as

$$W^{s,p}(\Omega) = \left\{ u \in L^p(\Omega) \mid rac{u(x) - u(y)}{\left|\left|x - y
ight|\right|^{s + rac{d}{p}}} \in L^p(\Omega imes \Omega) 
ight\}$$

Furthermore, if s > 1 is not an integer and letting  $\sigma = s - [s]$  with [s] denoting the integer part of s, then one defines the space  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$  as

$$W^{s,p}(\Omega) = \{ u \in W^{[s],p}(\Omega) \mid D^{\alpha}u \in W^{\sigma,p}(\Omega), \forall \alpha : |\alpha| = [s] \}.$$

If p = 2 we will write  $H^{s}(\Omega) = W^{s,2}(\Omega)$  again.

### 1.5 Embedding

In some occasions we will need to make use of the embedding of Sobolev spaces. Here we recall some important results. The content of this section is taken from appendix B in [10].

**Proposition 1.5.1** (Embedding of Lebesgue spaces). [10, Prop. B.39]. Let  $\Omega$  be an open bounded set. Then, for  $1 \le p < q \le +\infty$  the embedding  $L^q(\Omega) \subset L^p(\Omega)$  is continuous.

Proof. This statement follows from Hölder's inequality.

**Theorem 1.5.2** (Sobolev inequality). [10, Thm. B.40]. Let  $1 \le p < d$  and denote by  $p^*$  the number such that  $\frac{1}{p^*} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{d}$  or equivalently  $p^* = \frac{pd}{d-p}$ . Then there exists  $c = \frac{p^*}{1^*}$  with  $1^* := \frac{d}{d-1}$  such that for all functions  $u \in W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the inequality

$$||u||_{L^{p^*}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq c ||\nabla u||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)}$$

holds.

Proof. See page 32 in [7].

**Corollary 1.5.3.** [10, Cor. B.41]. Let  $1 \le p, q \le +\infty$ . The following embeddings

$$W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset L^q(\mathbb{R}^d) ext{ if } egin{cases} ext{either } 1 \leq p < d ext{ and } p \leq q \leq p^*, \ ext{or } p = d ext{ and } p \leq q < +\infty \end{cases}$$

are continuous.

*Proof.* A proof is given on page 34 in [7].

**Theorem 1.5.4** (Morrey<sup>41</sup>). [10, Thm. B.42]. Let  $d and <math>\alpha = 1 - \frac{d}{p}$ . The embedding

$$W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap C^{0,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d)$$

is continuous.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>Charles B. Morrey Jr. (1907-1984) was an American mathematician (cf. [26]).

*Proof.* A proof can be found on page 37 in [7].

**Corollary 1.5.5.** [10, Cor. B.43]. Let  $1 \le p, q \le +\infty$ . Let  $s \ge 1$  be an integer. Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded open set having the (1, p)-extension property. The embeddings

$$W^{s,p}(\Omega) \subset egin{cases} L^q(\Omega) & ext{if } 1 \leq p < rac{d}{s} ext{ and } p \leq q \leq p^*, \ L^q(\Omega) & ext{if } p = rac{d}{s} ext{ and } p \leq q < +\infty, \ L^\infty(\Omega) \cap C^{0,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega}) & ext{if } p > rac{d}{s} ext{ and } lpha = 1 - rac{d}{sp}. \end{cases}$$

are continuous.

**Remark 1.5.6** (Continuity of functions in  $H^1(\Omega)$ ). A consequence of this theorem is that in one dimension functions in  $H^1(\Omega)$  are continuous. However, one should note that in dimension 2 or in dimension 3 this is not true any longer. This remark will be quite important for some proofs in the other chapters of this thesis. Nevertheless, this result will also limit some investigations as we will see in the section about the weighted  $L^2$  projection.

### 1.6 Error Bounds for Interpolation in Sobolev Spaces

The objective of this section is to state local as well as global error estimates on affine meshes for scalar-valued functions belonging to Sobolev spaces, which we defined previously (cf. def. 1.4.8). We will refer to the literature for their proofs. The results given are taken from section 1.5.1 in [10].

**Theorem 1.6.1** (Local Interpolation). [10, Thm.1.103]. Let  $\{\widehat{K}, \widehat{P}, \widehat{\Sigma}\}$  be a local finite element with associated normed vector space  $V(\widehat{K})$ . Let  $1 \le p \le \infty$  and assume that there exists an integer k such that

$$\mathbb{P}_k \subset \widehat{P} \subset W^{k+1,p}(\widehat{K}) \subset V(\widehat{K}).$$
(1)

Furthermore, let  $T_{K} : \widehat{K} \longrightarrow K$  be an affine bijective mapping from the reference mesh cell to another mesh cell and let  $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{k}$  be the local interpolation operator on K. Let I be chosen in such a way that  $0 \le I \le k$  and  $W^{I+1,p}(\widehat{K}) \subset V(\widehat{K})$  with continuous embedding. Then, setting  $\sigma_{K} = \frac{h_{K}}{\rho_{K}}$ where  $\rho_{K}$  denotes the diameter of the largest ball that can be inscribed in K, there exists c > 0such that for all  $m \in \{0, ..., I+1\}$  we have

$$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l+1,p}(K) : |v - \mathcal{I}_K^k v|_{W^{m,p}(K)} \leq ch_K^{l+1-m} \sigma_K^m |v|_{W^{l+1,p}(K)}$$

*Proof.* A proof of this result is given on page 59 in [10].

**Definition 1.6.2** (Degree of a finite element). [10, Def.1.104]. The largest integer k such that the embedding (1) holds is called the *degree* of the finite element  $\{\widehat{K}, \widehat{P}, \widehat{\Sigma}\}$ .

**Remark 1.6.3** (Optimal error estimate). If the function we want to interpolate lies in  $W^{k+1,p}(K)$  we may set l = k in the previous theorem. Then one obtains an error estimate, which is optimal. In particular, one gets for  $m \in \{0, ..., k+1\}$  that

$$\forall \mathcal{K}, \forall W^{k+1,p}(\mathcal{K}): |v - \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}^{k}v|_{W^{m,p}(\mathcal{K})} \leq ch_{\mathcal{K}}^{k+1-m}\sigma_{\mathcal{K}}^{m}|v|_{W^{l+1,p}(\mathcal{K})}.$$

**Theorem 1.6.4** (Global interpolation). [10, Cor. 1.109]. Let p, k and l be such that they satisfy the assumptions of the previous theorem. Furthermore, let  $\Omega$  be a polyhedron and let  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  be a shape-regular family of affine meshes of  $\Omega$ . With  $V_h^k$  we denote the approximation space based on  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}$  and the finite element  $\{\widehat{K}, \widehat{P}, \widehat{\Sigma}\}$ . Let  $\mathcal{I}_h^k$  be the corresponding global interpolation operator. Then, there exists a constant c such that for all h and  $v \in W^{l+1,p}(\Omega)$  one finds

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}v||_{L^{p}(\Omega)} + \sum_{m=1}^{l+1} h^{m} \left( \sum_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} |v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}v|_{W^{m,p}(K)}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq ch^{l+1} |v|_{W^{l+1,p}(\Omega)},$$

for  $p < \infty$ , and for  $p = \infty$  one has

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} + \sum_{m=1}^{l+1} h^{m} \max_{K \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} |v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}v|_{W^{m,\infty}(K)} \leq ch^{l+1} |v|_{W^{l+1,\infty}(\Omega)}$$

*Proof.* A proof can be found on page 61 in [10].

**Corollary 1.6.5** (Interpolation in  $W^{s,p}(\Omega)$ ). [10, Cor.1.110]. Let the conditions of the previous theorem hold. We assume that  $V_h^k$  is  $W^{1,p}$ -conformal, which means that  $V_h^k \subset W^{1,p}(\Omega)$ . Then there exists a constant c such that for all h and  $v \in W^{l+1,p}(\Omega)$  the estimate

$$|v - \mathcal{I}_h^k v|_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)} \leq ch' |v|_{W'^{+1,p}(\Omega)}$$

holds.

## **2** The Lagrange Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{L}$

In this section the Lagrange interpolation operator will be introduced, which is a popular choice for the interpolation of smooth functions. The main idea is to define the interpolation operator using the values of the function to be interpolated at the nodes that are distributed over the proposed mesh. That means in particular, following the definition of a general interpolation operator (cf. def. 1.3.1), that for a set of points  $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^N$  in some mesh cell K the general Lagrange interpolation operator is defined by

$$\mathcal{I}_{K}^{L} \mathsf{v} := \sum_{i \in \mathsf{N}} \mathsf{v}(\mathsf{a}_{i}) \vartheta_{i}$$

where  $\vartheta_i$  are suitable shape functions and v is the function to be interpolated (cf. p.54 in [19]). We will make this definition more accessible in the following sections. For the sake of simplicity the one-dimensional case will be presented first. Later the idea of this operator will be generalized to higher dimensions. Throughout this section we will derive some estimates on the interpolation error, which will help us to understand how interpolation estimates are proven. This chapter follows closely the presentation in chapter 1.1 in [10].

### 2.1 The One-Dimensional Case

#### 2.1.1 Interpolation Using Polynomials of Degree 1

In one dimension a domain is an open, bounded interval (cf. def. 1.1.1). So we will consider the open interval  $\Omega = (a, b)$ , which will be decomposed by a mesh. In this scenario, following def. 1.1.6 and def. 1.1.7 as well as remark 1.1.8, a mesh is given by an indexed set of subintervals with non-zero measure  $\{I_i = [x_{1,i}, x_{2,i}]\}_{0 \le i \le N}$  that form a *partition* of  $\Omega$ , which means that

$$\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{i=0}^{N} I_i$$
 and  $\mathring{I}_i \cap \mathring{I}_j = \emptyset$  for  $i \neq j$ .

In order to construct such a mesh we pick (N+2) points in  $\overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$a = x_0 < x_1 < \ldots < x_N < x_{N+1} = b$$

where we set  $x_{1,i} = x_i$  and  $x_{2,i} = x_{i+1}$  for  $0 \le i \le N$ . Using the introduced terminology from definition 1.1.7 we call the points  $\{x_0, ..., x_{N+1}\}$  the *vertices* of the mesh. Furthermore we allow the mesh to have variable step size, i.e.,

$$h_i := x_{i+1} - x_i, \ 0 \le i \le N_i$$

and define h to be the maximum step size, i.e.,

$$h:=\max_{0\leq i\leq N}h_i.$$

According to remark 1.1.8 the intervals will be called *mesh cells*. The mesh will be denoted as  $T_h := \{I_i\}_{0 \le i \le N}$ .

As an approximation space we will consider the vector space of continuous, piecewise linear functions

$$P_h^1 = \{ v_h \in \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}) \mid \forall i \in \{0, ..., N\} : v_{h|l_i} \in \mathbb{P}_1 \},$$

where  $C^0(\overline{\Omega})$  means the space of continuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega} \subset \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{P}_1$  denotes the vector space composed of univariate polynomial functions of degree at most 1. We define for  $i \in \{0, ..., N+1\}$ the functions

$$\varphi_{i}(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{h_{i-1}} \cdot (x - x_{i-1}) = \frac{(x - x_{i-1})}{(x_{i} - x_{i-1})} & \text{if } x \in I_{i-1}, \\ \frac{1}{h_{i}} \cdot (x_{i+1} - x) = \frac{(x_{i+1} - x)}{(x_{i+1} - x_{i})} & \text{if } x \in I_{i}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

with suitable modifications if i = 0 or i = N + 1 (cf. p.4 in [10]).

**Remark 2.1.1** (Hat functions). One easily sees that the  $\varphi_i$  are continuous, piecewise linear functions, i.e.,  $\varphi_i \in P_h^1$ . With respect to the shape of their graphs the defined functions are also often called *hat functions* (cf. figure 5).



Figure 5: The graphs of hat functions (based on figure 1.1 in [10]).

**Proposition 2.1.2** (Basis of  $P_h^1$ ). [10, Prop.1.1]. The set of hat functions  $\{\varphi_0, ..., \varphi_{N+1}\}$  is a basis<sup>42</sup> for the space of continuous, piecewise linear functions  $P_h^1$ .

Proof. From the definition it follows directly that

$$\varphi_i(\mathbf{x}_j) = \delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{if } i \neq j, \end{cases}$$

 $<sup>^{42}</sup>$ See definition on p.204 in [11].

for  $0 \le i, j \le N+1$  with  $\delta_{ij}$  denoting the Kronecker symbol. This fact will be of importance for our argumentation. In order to prove the linear independence<sup>43</sup> let  $(\lambda_0, ..., \lambda_{N+1})^T \in \mathbb{R}^{N+2}$ . We make the assumption that the continuous function  $w = \sum_{i=0}^{N+1} \lambda_i \varphi_i$  vanishes for all  $x \in \Omega$ . Thus, it holds by the observation from the beginning that

$$w(x_i) = \sum_{i=0}^{N+1} \lambda_i \varphi_i(x_i) = \lambda_i = 0 \text{ for } 0 \le i \le N+1$$

That proves the linear independence.

Now we need to show that the set  $\{\varphi_0, ..., \varphi_{N+1}\}$  spans  $P_h^1$ . Given that on each mesh cell  $I_i$  the functions  $v_h$  and  $\sum_{i=0}^{N+1} v_h(x_i)\varphi_i$  are affine and coincide at the two points  $x_i$  and  $x_{i+1}$ , we know that for all  $v_h \in P_h^1$  it holds that  $v_h = \sum_{i=0}^{N+1} v_h(x_i)\varphi_i$ . This completes the proof.

Having found appropriate shape functions, we still need linear forms to properly define an interpolation operator in the sense of definition 1.3.1. As we have already stated in the beginning of this chapter, the essence of Lagrange interpolation is that it uses the values of the function to be interpolated. So consider the linear forms that evaluate a function at the *i*-th node, i.e.,

$$\sigma_i : \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
  
 $\mathbf{v} \longmapsto \sigma_i(\mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i \in \{0, ..., N+1\}.$ 

Using the gathered information we are able to define the Lagrange interpolation operator.

Definition 2.1.3 (Lagrange interpolation operator). [10, p.5]. The interpolation operator

$$\mathcal{I}_{h}^{1}: \mathcal{C}^{0}(\overline{\Omega}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{h}^{1}$$
 $v \longmapsto \sum_{i=0}^{N+1} \sigma_{i}(v)\varphi_{i}$ 

is called the Lagrange interpolation operator of degree 1.

**Remark 2.1.4** (On the definition of the Lagrange interpolation operator). Looking at the definition of this interpolation operator it is clear that for a function v that belongs to  $C^0(\overline{\Omega})$ , the Lagrange interpolant of v, i.e.,  $\mathcal{I}_h^1 v$ , is the unique continuous, piecewise linear function that takes the same value as v at all vertices within the mesh.

Having defined the Lagrange interpolation operator we want to discuss its properties in Sobolev spaces.

**Lemma 2.1.5** (Subspace of  $H^1(\Omega)$ ). [10, Lemma 1.3]. It holds that  $P_h^1 \subset H^1(\Omega) = W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>See definition on p.201 and the used criterion for linear independence on p.203 in [11].

*Proof.* Let  $v_h$  be a function in  $P_h^1$ . It is clear by definition that  $v_h$  also lies in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Recall that functions in  $P_h^1$  are continuous by definition. Thus, by the continuity of  $v_h$  we see that its first-order distributional derivative<sup>44</sup> is the piecewise constant function  $u_h$  such that for the restriction of  $u_h$  to each mesh cell  $I_i$  it holds that

$$\forall I_i \in \mathcal{T}_h : u_{h|I_i} = \frac{v_h(x_{i+1}) - v_h(x_i)}{h_i}.$$

Then, by the same argumentation as for  $v_h$ , we know that the function  $u_h$  lies in  $L^2(\Omega)$  too and hence  $v_h \in H^1(\Omega)$ .

**Proposition 2.1.6** ( $H^1$ -stability of  $\mathcal{I}_h^1$ ). [10, Prop. 1.4].  $\mathcal{I}_h^1$  is a linear continuous mapping from  $H^1(\Omega)$  to  $H^1(\Omega)$ , and there exists a positive constant C such that

$$||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq C ||v||_{H^1(\Omega)}$$

*Proof.* For the first part of the proposition we know by the embedding theorems that in dimension 1, a function in  $H^1(\Omega)$  is continuous (cf. remark 1.5.6). Let  $v \in H^1(\Omega)$  and  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$ . By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, which we stated in remark 1.4.7, one finds

$$|v(y) - v(x)| \le \left| \int_{x}^{y} |v'(s)| \mathrm{d}s \right| = \left| \int_{x}^{y} |v'(s)| \cdot 1 \mathrm{d}s \right| \le |y - x|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |v'(s)|^2 \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = |y - x|^{\frac{1}{2}} |v|_{H^{1}(\Omega)}.$$
(2)

Let x be a point where |v| attains its minimum in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By inequality (2) we can argue that

$$||v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq |b-a|^{-\frac{1}{2}}||v||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + |b-a|^{\frac{1}{2}}|v|_{H^{1}(\Omega)},$$
(3)

because  $|v(x)| \leq |b-a|^{-\frac{1}{2}}||v||_{L^2(\Omega)}$ . A detailed proof of a more general version of this statement can be found on p.24 in [20]. Thus, the Lagrange interpolant  $\mathcal{I}_h^1 v$  is well-defined for  $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ . By the previous lemma we know that  $P_h^1 \subset H^1(\Omega)$ , which implies that the Lagrange interpolant lies in  $H^1(\Omega)$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{I}_h^1 v \in H^1(\Omega)$ . This means  $\mathcal{I}_h^1$  maps  $H^1(\Omega)$  to  $H^1(\Omega)$ , which proves the first part of the statement.

For the second part of the statement we consider a mesh cell  $I_i \in \mathcal{T}_h$  for  $0 \le i \le N$ . By the proof of the previous lemma we know that  $(\mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'_{|I_i} = h_i^{-1}(v(x_{i+1}) - v(x_i))$ . We get

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_{h}^{1}v|_{H^{1}(l_{i})} &= \left(\int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} |h_{i}^{-1}(v(x_{i+1}) - v(x_{i}))|^{2} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} &= h_{i}^{-1} |v(x_{i+1}) - v(x_{i})| \left(\int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} 1 ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= h_{i}^{-1} |v(x_{i+1}) - v(x_{i})| |x_{i+1} - x_{i}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= h_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} |v(x_{i+1}) - v(x_{i})| \\ &= h_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i+1}} |v'(s)| ds \\ &\leq h_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} |x_{i+1} - x_{i}|^{\frac{1}{2}} |v|_{H^{1}(l_{i})} = |v|_{H^{1}(l_{i})}, \end{aligned}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>See definition B.19 on p. 481 in [10].

using estimate (2) in the last step. It immediately follows that  $|\mathcal{I}_h^1 v|_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq |v|_{H^1(\Omega)}$ . It further holds by the definition of the  $L^{\infty}$ -norm (cf. def. 1.4.1) that

$$||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^2(\Omega)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathcal{I}_h^1 v|^2 \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \left(\int_{\Omega} ||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^2 \mathrm{d}x\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le |b-a|^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}.$$

Because the function and its linear interpolant coincide at the vertices we also have  $||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq ||v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}$ . We further assume that h is bounded. Now using these estimates we infer by (3) that

$$||\mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq C ||v||_{H^1(\Omega)}$$

where C is a constant that is independent of h. This completes the proof.

**Proposition 2.1.7** (Interpolation error). [10, Prop. 1.5]. For all h and  $v \in H^2(\Omega)$ ,

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le h^2 ||v''||_{L^2(\Omega)}$$
 and  $||(v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le h ||v''||_{L^2(\Omega)}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $I_i \in \mathcal{T}_h$  be a mesh cell and let u be a function in  $H^1(\Omega)$  which takes the value zero at some point  $\eta$  in the mesh cell  $I_i$ . Then, by inequality (2) we obtain

$$||u||_{L^2(I_i)} \leq h_i ||u'||_{L^2(I_i)}$$

Next, let  $v \in H^2(\Omega)$  and let  $i \in \{0, ..., N\}$ . Furthermore, we set  $u_i = (v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'_{|I_i|}$ . Note that  $u_i$  lies in  $H^1(I_i)$ . Observe that Rolle<sup>45</sup>'s theorem tells us that  $u_i$  vanishes at some point  $\eta$  in the mesh cell  $I_i$ . By the application of the inequality  $||u||_{L^2(I_i)} \leq h_i||u'||_{L^2(I_i)}$  to  $u_i$  and by using the fact that  $(\mathcal{I}_h^1 v)''$  becomes zero for all arguments  $x \in I_i$  we come to the conclusion that

$$||v' - (\mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'||_{L^2(I_i)} \le h_i ||v''||_{L^2(I_i)}$$

Now summation over the mesh cells yields the second estimate in the proposition.

For proving the first estimate, one needs to apply the estimate  $||u||_{L^2(l_i)} \leq h_i ||u'||_{L^2(l_i)}$  to  $(v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v)_{|l_i}$ . Using that one finds

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^2(I_i)} \leq h_i ||v' - (\mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'||_{L^2(I_i)} \leq h_i^2 ||v''||_{L^2(I_i)}.$$

Finally, one concludes again by summing over the mesh cells.

**Remark 2.1.8** (On the proven error bounds). [10, p. 7]. (i) Looking at the proven error bound one sees that the bound on the interpolation error involves second-order derivatives of v. This results from the fact that a large second derivative corresponds to a high deviation of the graph of v from the piecewise linear interpolant.

(ii) If the function, which we seek to interpolate lies in  $H^1(\Omega)$  only, one can verify that

$$\forall h: ||v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq h ||v'||_{L^2(\Omega)} \text{ and } \lim_{h \longrightarrow 0} ||(v - \mathcal{I}_h^1 v)'||_{L^2(\Omega)} = 0$$

(iii) The proof we have given for the last proposition indicates that the Lagrange interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_h^1$  possesses numerous local interpolation properties. In other words, one observes that the interpolation error is controlled elementwise before it is controlled on a global level. This observation serves as a motivation for the introduction of local interpolation operators.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Michel Rolle (1652-1719) was a French mathematician (cf. [36]).

#### 2.1.2 Interpolation with Higher-Degree Polynomials

The interpolation technique from the previous section can be generalized to higher-degree polynomials. This has the advantage that we can interpolate smooth functions to high-order accuracy. This section follows closely the material from section 1.1.3 in [10]. In order to do this this generalization process we again consider the mesh  $T_h = \{I_i\}$  from the beginning. Different to the previous part is the choice of the approximation space. Now we consider the space

$$P_h^k = \{ v_h \in \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}); \forall i \in \{0, ..., N\}, v_{h|I_i} \in \mathbb{P}_k \},\$$

with  $\mathbb{P}_k$  denoting the vector space that consists of univariate polynomials of degree at most k, i.e.,  $p \in \mathbb{P}_k$  if  $p(t) = \sum_{i=0}^k \alpha_i t^i$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , with  $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$  for every integer  $i \in \{0, ..., k\}$ . Before defining the corresponding interpolation operator we need to recall the notion of Lagrange polynomials.

**Definition 2.1.9** (Lagrange polynomials). [10, Def. 1.7]. Let  $k \ge 1$  and let  $\{s_0, ..., s_k\}$  be (k + 1) distinct numbers. The Lagrange polynomials  $\{\ell_0^k, ..., \ell_k^k\}$  associated with the nodes  $\{s_0, ..., s_k\}$  are defined as

$$\ell_m^k(t) := \frac{\prod_{l \neq m} (t - s_l)}{\prod_{l \neq m} (s_m - s_l)}, \quad 0 \le m \le k.$$

**Remark 2.1.10** (Kronecker delta). The Lagrange polynomials satisfy the property

$$\ell_m^k(s_l) = \delta_{ml}, \ 0 \leq m, l \leq k,$$

by definition.

**Example 2.1.11** (Computation of Lagrange polynomials). Consider the unit interval [0, 1] using equi-distributed nodes. One computes for the degree k = 1 the Lagrange polynomials

$$\ell_0^1(t) = \frac{t-1}{0-1} = \frac{t-1}{(-1)} = -t+1$$
 and  $\ell_1^1(t) = \frac{t-0}{1-0} = t$ 

For k = 2 one finds

$$\ell_0^2(t) = \frac{t - \frac{1}{2}}{0 - \frac{1}{2}} \cdot \frac{t - 1}{0 - 1} = 2t^2 - 3t + 1,$$
  

$$\ell_1^2(t) = \frac{t - 0}{\frac{1}{2} - 0} \cdot \frac{t - 1}{\frac{1}{2} - 1} = -4t^2 + 4t \text{ and}$$
  

$$\ell_2^2(t) = \frac{t - 0}{1 - 0} \cdot \frac{t - \frac{1}{2}}{1 - \frac{1}{2}} = 2t^2 - t.$$

**Remark 2.1.12** (Nodes for different degrees k). The example illustrates that for the degree k = 1 the nodes coincide with the vertices of the proposed mesh. For a degree of k = 2 one sees that the nodes include the midpoint of the interval. For higher k it generalizes in the obvious way.

Since we want to define the Lagrange interpolation operator for arbitrary degrees k we will proceed in a similar way as we did in section 2.1. Hence, we will now define an analogon to the hat functions from the previous section where we looked at k = 1. Therefore, we will define the *nodes*  $\xi_{i,m} := x_i + \frac{m}{k}h_i, 0 \le m \le k$  in the mesh cell  $I_i$  for  $i \in \{0, ..., N\}$ . Next we will use the Lagrange polynomials, which we defined above and associate those to the nodes  $\xi_{i,m}$ . So let  $\{\ell_{i,0}^k, ..., \ell_{i,k}^k\}$  be the Lagrange polynomials associated with these nodes. Now for  $j \in \{0, ..., k(N+1)\}$  with j = ki + m and  $0 \le m \le k - 1$ , we define for  $1 \le m \le k - 1$  the functions

$$\varphi_{ki+m}(x) = \begin{cases} \ell_{i,m}^k(x) & \text{if } x \in I_i, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and for m = 0,

$$arphi_{ki}(x) = \left\{egin{array}{cc} \ell_{i-1,k}^k(x) & ext{if } x \in I_{i-1}, \ \ell_{i,0}^k(x) & ext{if } x \in I_i, \ 0 & ext{otherwise}, \end{array}
ight.$$

with certain modifications if i = 0 or i = N + 1 (cf. p.8 in [10]).

**Lemma 2.1.13** (Hat functions lie in  $P_h^k$ ). [10, Lemma 1.8]. The hat functions  $\varphi_j$  lie in  $P_h^k$ .

*Proof.* Let  $j \in \{0, ..., k(N+1)\}$  with j = ki + m. For  $1 \le m \le k - 1$  we find that

$$\varphi_j(x_i) = \varphi_j(x_{i+1}) = 0.$$

This leads to the conclusion that  $\varphi_j$  lies in the space  $C^0(\overline{\Omega})$ . Also note that if we restrict the  $\varphi_j$  to each mesh cell that these restrictions will lie in  $\mathbb{P}_k$  of the considered mesh cell, which is due to their construction. It follows that  $\varphi_j \in P_h^k$ . Next we make the assumption that m = 0 and 0 < i < N+1. It is clear that  $\varphi_{ki}$  is continuous at  $x_i$  by construction. Furthermore it holds that

$$\varphi_{ki}(x_{i-1}) = \varphi_{ki}(x_{i+1}) = 0$$

We conclude that  $\varphi_{ki}$  is an element of  $P_h^k$ . For the cases i = 0 and i = N + 1 one follows a similar procedure. This ends the proof.

As in the previous section we will again need linear forms for the definition of the interpolation operator. We introduce the set of nodes  $\{a_j\}_{0 \le j \le k(N+1)}$  such that  $a_j = \xi_{i,m}$  where j = ik + m. For  $j \in \{0, ..., k(N+1)\}$  we consider the linear forms

$$egin{aligned} &\sigma_j : \mathcal{C}^0(\overline{\Omega}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \ & \mathbf{v} \longmapsto \sigma_j(\mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{a}_j) \end{aligned}$$

which are defined by evaluating the function v at the nodes  $a_i$ .

**Proposition 2.1.14** (Bases for  $P_h^k$  and  $\mathcal{L}(P_h^k, \mathbb{R})$ ). [10, Prop. 1.9]. The set  $\{\varphi_0, ..., \varphi_{k(N+1)}\}$  is a basis for  $P_h^k$  and  $\{\sigma_0, ..., \sigma_{k(N+1)}\}$  is a basis for  $\mathcal{L}(P_h^k; \mathbb{R})$ .

*Proof.* Using the fact that for the linear forms it holds that  $\sigma_j(\varphi_{j'}) = \delta_{jj'}$  for  $0 \le j, j' \le k(N+1)$ , one can prove this statement similarly to the proof of proposition 2.1.2.

We are now ready to define the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_h^k$ .

**Definition 2.1.15** (Lagrange interpolant of degree k). [10, p.10].

The interpolation operator

$$\mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}: \mathcal{C}^{0} \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{h}^{k}$$
 $v \longmapsto \sum_{j=0}^{k(N+1)} \sigma_{j}(v) \varphi_{j}$ 

is called the Lagrange interpolation operator of degree k.

**Remark 2.1.16** (Properties of the Lagrange interpolant of degree k). [10, p.10]. (i) It is clear that the Lagrange interpolation operator of degree k is linear.

(ii) The Lagrange interpolant  $\mathcal{I}_h^k v$  is the unique function in  $P_h^k$  for which its values at all the nodes of the mesh coincide with the values of the function v.

**Lemma 2.1.17** (Subspace of  $H^1(\Omega)$ ). [10, Lemma 1.10]. The space  $P_h^k$  is a subset of  $H^1(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Similar to the proof for  $P_h^1$  (cf. Lemma 2.1.5).

We want to take a closer look at the properties of  $\mathcal{I}_{h}^{k}$ . The following construction is taken from p.10 in [10]. We look at the *i*-th interval  $I_{i} = [x_{i}, x_{i+1}] \in \mathcal{T}_{h}$  and consider the (k + 1) linear forms  $\{\sigma_{i,0}, ..., \sigma_{i,k}\}$  defined by the point evaluations at the nodes  $\xi_{i,m}$ , i.e.,

$$\sigma_{i,m}: \mathbb{P}_k \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
  
 $p \longmapsto \sigma_{i,m}(p) = p(\xi_{i,m}), \ 0 \le m \le k.$ 

As the local shape functions  $\{\vartheta_{i,0}, ..., \vartheta_{i,k}\}$  we choose the (k + 1) Lagrange polynomials associated with the nodes  $\{\xi_{i,0}, ..., \xi_{i,k}\}$ , i.e.,

$$\vartheta_{i,m} = \ell_{i,m}^k$$
 for  $0 \le m \le k$ .

A familiy  $\{\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k\}_{l_i \in \mathcal{T}_h}$  of local interpolation operators for  $i \in \{0, ..., N\}$  is now defined by

$$\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k : \mathcal{C}^0(l_i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_h^k$$
$$v \longmapsto \sum_{m=0}^k \sigma_{i,m}(v) \vartheta_{i,m} = \sum_{m=0}^k v(\xi_{i,m}) \ell_{i,m}^k.$$

This means for all  $0 \le i \le N$  and  $v \in C^0(\overline{\Omega})$  we have by definition that

$$(\mathcal{I}_h^k \mathsf{v})_{|I_i} = \mathcal{I}_{I_i}^k(\mathsf{v}_{|I_i}).$$

We want to show that a reference interpolation operator can generate the family  $\{\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k\}_{l_i \in \mathcal{T}_h}$ . Therefore we consider the unit interval  $\widehat{K} = [0, 1]$  as a reference cell. We further set  $\widehat{P} = \mathbb{P}_k$  and define on the reference mesh cell, analogously to the prior discussion, the (k + 1) linear forms  $\{\widehat{\sigma}_0, ..., \widehat{\sigma}_k\}$  by

$$\widehat{\sigma}_m : \mathbb{P}_k \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
  
 $\widehat{p} \longmapsto \widehat{\sigma}_m(\widehat{p}) = \widehat{p}(\widehat{\xi}_m), \ 0 \le m \le k,$ 

where the *m*-th node on the reference cell is given by  $\hat{\xi}_m = \frac{m}{k}$ . Let  $\{\hat{\ell}_0^k, ..., \hat{\ell}_k^k\}$  be the Lagrange polynomials that we associate with the reference nodes  $\{\hat{\xi}_0, ..., \hat{\xi}_k\}$ .

Next let  $\widehat{\vartheta}_m = \widehat{\ell}_m^k$ ,  $0 \le m \le k$ , such that  $\widehat{\sigma}_m(\widehat{\vartheta}_n) = \delta_{mn}$  for  $0 \le m, n \le k$ . Now the interpolation operator on the reference cell is defined as

$$\mathcal{I}_{\widehat{K}}^{k}: \mathcal{C}^{0}(\widehat{K}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}_{k}$$
$$\widehat{\nu} \longmapsto \sum_{m=0}^{k} \widehat{\sigma}_{m}(\widehat{\nu})\widehat{\vartheta}_{m} = \sum_{m=0}^{k} \widehat{\nu}(\widehat{\xi}_{m})\widehat{\ell}_{m}^{k}.$$

We want to transform the reference mesh cell to the other mesh cells. Hence, according to remark 1.1.10, we use the affine transformations

$$T_i: \widehat{K} \longrightarrow I_i$$
$$t \longmapsto x = x_i + th_i \text{ for } i \in \{0, ..., N\}.$$

Observe that  $T_i(\widehat{K}) = I_i$ . That means in particular that we can construct the mesh by applying the affine transformations  $T_i$  to the reference mesh cell  $\widehat{K}$ . Also note that the transformations  $T_i$  map the reference nodes to the nodes of the *i*-th interval, i.e.,  $T_i(\widehat{\xi}_m) = \xi_{i,m}$  for  $0 \le m \le k$ . So we have that  $\vartheta_{i,m} \circ T_i = \widehat{\vartheta}_m$  and for all continuous functions  $v \in C^0(I_i)$  we find  $\sigma_{i,m}(v) = \widehat{\sigma}_m(v \circ T_i)$ . With the computation

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{l_{i}}^{k}(v)(T_{i}(\widehat{x})) &\stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \sum_{m=0}^{k} \sigma_{i,m}(v) \vartheta_{i,m}(T_{i}(\widehat{x})) \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{k} \sigma_{i,m}(v) \widehat{\vartheta}_{m}(\widehat{x}) \qquad (\text{using } \vartheta_{i,m} \circ T_{i} = \widehat{\vartheta}_{m}) \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{k} \widehat{\sigma}_{m}(v \circ T_{i}) \widehat{\vartheta}_{m}(\widehat{x}) \qquad (\text{using } \sigma_{i,m}(v) = \widehat{\sigma}_{m}(v \circ T_{i})) \\ &\stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{K}}^{k}(v \circ T_{i})(\widehat{x}) \end{aligned}$$

we conclude that for all functions continuous functions  $v \in C^0(I_i)$  it holds that

$$\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k(\mathbf{v}) \circ \mathcal{T}_i = \mathcal{I}_{\widehat{\mathcal{K}}}^k(\mathbf{v} \circ \mathcal{T}_i).$$
(4)

In conclusion, the above construction shows that combining the reference interpolation operator with the transformations  $T_i$  we can completely generate the family  $\{\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k\}_{l_i \in \mathcal{T}_h}$ .

**Proposition 2.1.18** ( $H^1$ -stability of  $\mathcal{I}_h^k$ ). [10, Prop. 1.11].  $\mathcal{I}_h^k$  is a linear continuous mapping from  $H^1(\Omega)$  to  $H^1(\Omega)$ , and  $||\mathcal{I}_h^k||_{\mathcal{L}(H^1(\Omega);H^1(\Omega))}$  is uniformly bounded with respect to h.

*Proof.* To prove that  $\mathcal{I}_h^k$  is a linear continuous mapping from  $H^1(\Omega)$  to  $H^1(\Omega)$  one can just repeat the proof for  $P_h^1$  (cf. lemma 2.1.6).

For the other part let v be a function in  $H^1(\Omega)$  and let  $I_i \in \mathcal{T}_h$  be a mesh cell. We make use of the fact that  $\sum_{m=0}^k \vartheta'_{i,m} = 0$ . This is true because looking at  $\sum_{m=0}^k \vartheta_{i,m}$  we notice that this sum is a polynomial in  $\mathbb{P}_k$  and hence  $\sum_{m=0}^k \vartheta_{i,m} - 1$  lies in  $\mathbb{P}_k$  also. Now using the property from remark 2.1.10 it follows that

$$\sum_{m=0}^{k} \vartheta_{i,m}(\xi_{i,n}) - 1 = 0 \text{ for } n = 0, 1, ..., k$$

This means that this polynomial has k + 1 zeros and hence must be the zero polynomial since a polynomial of degree k can only have up to k zeros.

So using the just proven result we have

$$(\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k \mathbf{v})' = \sum_{m=0}^k [\mathbf{v}(\xi_{i,m}) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}_i)]\vartheta'_{i,m}$$

By inequality (2) we have

$$|v(\xi_{i,m}) - v(x_i)| \le h_i^{\frac{1}{2}} ||v'||_{L^2(I_i)} \text{ for } 0 \le m \le k.$$
 (5)

Now doing a change of variables in the integral leads to

$$||\vartheta_{i,m}'||_{L^{2}(I_{i})} = h_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}}||\widehat{\vartheta}_{m}'||_{L^{2}(\widehat{\kappa})}.$$
(6)

We set the constant  $c_k = \max_{0 \le m \le k} ||\widehat{\vartheta}'_m||_{L^2(\widehat{K})}$ . Note that this constant is independent of the given mesh.

Using the derived expression for  $(\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k)'$  from above, applying the triangle inequality and then the inequality from above, we have

$$\begin{split} ||(\mathcal{I}_{l_{i}}^{k}\mathbf{v})'||_{L^{2}(l_{i})} &= \left\| \sum_{m=0}^{k} [v(\xi_{i,m}) - v(x_{i})]\vartheta_{i,m}' \right\|_{L^{2}(l_{i})} & \left( \text{since } (\mathcal{I}_{l_{i}}^{k}\mathbf{v})' = \sum_{m=0}^{k} [v(\xi_{i,m}) - v(x_{i})]\vartheta_{i,m}' \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{m=0}^{k} ||[v(\xi_{i,m}) - v(x_{i})]\vartheta_{i,m}'||_{L^{2}(l_{i})} & \left( \text{triangle inequality} \right) \\ &= \sum_{m=0}^{k} (|v(\xi_{i,m}) - v(x_{i})| \cdot ||\vartheta_{i,m}'||_{L^{2}(l_{i})}) \\ &\leq \sum_{m=0}^{k} h_{i}^{\frac{1}{2}} ||\mathbf{v}'||_{L^{2}(l_{i})} \cdot h_{i}^{-\frac{1}{2}} ||\widehat{\vartheta}_{m}||_{L^{2}(\widehat{\kappa})} & \left( \text{by } (5) \text{ and } (6) \right) \\ &\leq (k+1)c_{k} ||\mathbf{v}'||_{L^{2}(l_{i})} & \left( \text{summing over all } m \text{ and using } c_{k} \right). \end{split}$$

It follows that  $||(\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k v)'||_{L^2(l_i)}$  is controlled by  $||v'||_{L^2(\Omega)}$  uniformly with respect to h. Moreover, using the observation  $\sum_{m=0}^k \vartheta_{i,m} = 1$  we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{l_i}^k \mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}_i) = \sum_{m=0}^k [\mathbf{v}(\xi_{i,m}) - \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x}_i)]\vartheta_{i,m}.$$

It follows that for an argument from the *i*-th interval  $x \in I_i$  one gets

$$|\mathcal{I}_{I_i}^k v(x)| \leq ||v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} + (k+1)M_k h_i^{\frac{1}{2}} ||v'||_{L^2(I_i)}$$

with the mesh-independent constant  $M_k = \max_{0 \le m \le k} ||\widehat{\vartheta}_m||_{L^{\infty}(\widehat{K})}$ . Then by (3) it follows that  $||\mathcal{I}_h^k v||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}$  is controlled by  $(||v||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + ||v'||_{L^2(\Omega)}^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  uniformly with respect to h. Finally, using that

$$||\mathcal{I}_h^k v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq |b-a|^{rac{1}{2}}||\mathcal{I}_h^k v||_{L^\infty(\Omega)}$$

finishes the proof.

**Proposition 2.1.19** (Interpolation error). [10, Prop. 1.12]. Let  $0 \le l \le k$ . Then, there exists a constant c such that, for all h and  $v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega)$  we have

$$||\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k\mathbf{v}||_{L^2(\Omega)}+h|\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k\mathbf{v}|_{H^1(\Omega)}\leq ch^{l+1}|\mathbf{v}|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)},$$

and for  $l \geq 1$ ,

$$\sum_{m=2}^{l+1} h^m \left( \sum_{i=0}^N |v - \mathcal{I}_h^k v|_{H^m(l_i)}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq c h^{l+1} |v|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* A proof of this proposition is given on pages 12 and 13 in [10].

**Remark 2.1.20.** [10, Rmk. 1.13]. (i) One obtains optimal error estimates for smooth enough functions, i.e.,  $v \in H^{k+1}(\Omega)$ . By proposition 2.1.19 one finds

$$orall h, orall v \in H^{k+1}(\Omega): ||v-\mathcal{I}_h^k v||_{L^2(\Omega)} + h|v-\mathcal{I}_h^k v|_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq ch^{k+1}|v|_{H^{k+1}(\Omega)}.$$

Nevertheless, the interpolation error is not necessarily of optimal order if the function to be interpolated is a non-smooth function. That is the case if the function v lies in  $H^{s}(\Omega)$  but not in  $H^{s+1}(\Omega)$ for  $s \geq 2$ . Then using polynomials of degree larger than s - 1 will not improve the interpolation error.

(ii) We further note that for a function v that lies only in  $H^1(\Omega)$  the interpolation error in the  $H^1$ -seminorm still goes to zero for  $h \to 0$ , i.e.,  $\lim_{h \to 0} |v - \mathcal{I}_h^k v|_{H^1(\Omega)} = 0$ .

### 2.2 On the L<sup>p</sup>-Stability of the Lagrange interpolant

We will now investigate the  $L^p$ -stability of the Lagrange interpolant. The following construction was taken from the pages 57 to 58 in [20]. Let  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . We consider the Lagrange  $\mathbb{P}_1$  shape functions  $\vartheta_1(x) := 1 - x$  and  $\vartheta_2(x) := x$ . Furthermore we consider the sequence of continuous functions  $\{v_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}}$ , which are defined over the unit interval K := [0, 1] as

$$u_n(x) := \left\{ egin{array}{cc} n^lpha - 1 & ext{if } 0 \leq x \leq rac{1}{n}, \ x^{-lpha} - 1 & ext{otherwise.} \end{array} 
ight.$$

In order to get a better understanding of the behavior of this sequence of functions we have plotted the graphs for different *n* and the case of  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  (cf. figure 6).



Figure 6: Graphs of  $v_n$  for  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  and n = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 as well as 10.

Firstly, we will show that this sequence is uniformly bounded in  $L^{p}(0, 1)$  for all p such that  $p\alpha < 1$ . Using the definition of  $v_{p}$ , applying the triangle inequality and computing the  $L^{p}$  norm we have

$$||v_n||_{L^p(0,1)} \le ||x^{-lpha} - 1||_{L^p(0,1)} \le 1 + ||x^{-lpha}||_{L^p(0,1)} = 1 + rac{1}{(1 - plpha)^{rac{1}{p}}} < \infty$$

because  $p\alpha < 1$ .

Next we compute the Lagrange interpolant  $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}(v_{n})$  using the defined shape functions. Using that by definition it holds that  $v_{n}(1) = 0$  gives us

$$\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}\nu_{n}(x)=\nu_{n}(0)\vartheta_{1}(x)+\nu_{n}(1)\vartheta_{2}(x)=(n^{\alpha}-1)(1-x).$$

Plugging the computed expression for the interpolant into the  $L^{p}$ -norm implies

$$||\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}v_{n}||_{L^{p}(0,1)} = (n^{\alpha}-1)||(1-x)||_{L^{p}(0,1)} \geq (n^{\alpha}-1)\left|\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|\right|_{L^{p}\left(0,\frac{1}{2}\right)} \geq \frac{1}{4}(n^{\alpha}-1).$$

To see that the first inequality holds, one computes the integrals

$$\int_0^1 (1-x)^p dx = -\left[\frac{1}{p+1}(1-x)^{p+1}\right]_0^1 = \frac{1}{p+1}$$

and

$$\int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^p = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2^p} = \frac{1}{2^{p+1}}$$

Then, by performing a simple induction on p, one shows that

$$\frac{1}{p} \geq \frac{1}{2^{p+1}}.$$

This verifies the first inequality.

For the second inequality one just needs to look at the second integral. There one easily sees that this implies that  $\left|\left|\frac{1}{2}\right|\right|_{L^p\left(0,\frac{1}{2}\right)} \geq \frac{1}{4}$ . Hence, the second inequality is also true. Now one finds that

$$||\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}v_{n}||_{L^{p}(0,1)} \geq \frac{1}{4}(n^{\alpha}-1)\gamma^{-1}||v_{n}||_{L^{p}(0,1)}$$

with  $\gamma:=1+rac{1}{(1-p\alpha)^{rac{1}{p}}}.$  This proves that for all  $n\in\mathbb{N}$  we have

$$||\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p};L^{p})}\geq rac{1}{4}(n^{lpha}-1)\gamma^{-1}$$

Thus,

$$||\mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{K}}^{1}||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p};L^{p})}=\infty,$$

which means that  $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}$  is not  $L^{p}$ -stable for all  $p < \frac{1}{\alpha}$ . Note that since  $\alpha$  was arbitrary in (0, 1) one can conclude that the interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{1}$  is not  $L^{q}$  stable for all  $q \in [1, \infty)$  in dimension 1.

**Remark 2.2.1** (On the  $L^2$ -stability of the Lagrange interpolant). In fact, the above construction shows that the Lagrange interpolant is not  $L^2$ -stable in general.

### 2.3 Extension of the Lagrange Interpolation Operator to Higher Dimensions

In order to extend the idea of the Lagrange interpolation operator to higher dimensions one can reformulate the notions from the previous sections with the help of barycentric coordinates. The information presented in this section were taken from section 1.2.3 in [10] and the appendix B in [15].

**Definition 2.3.1** (Barycentric coordinates). [10, p.21]. Let K be a simplex in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . For  $0 \le i \le d$  let  $F_i$  be the face of K that is opposite to the node  $a_i$ . The associated *barycentric coordinates*  $\{\lambda_0, ..., \lambda_d\}$  are defined in the following way:

For  $0 \le i \le d$  we define the map

$$egin{aligned} \lambda_i : \mathbb{R}^d & \longrightarrow \mathbb{R} \ x & \longmapsto \lambda_i(x) = 1 - rac{(x-a_i) \cdot n_i}{(a_j-a_i) \cdot n_i} \end{aligned}$$

with  $n_i$  denoting the outward normal to  $F_i$  and  $a_i$  being an arbitrary vertex in the face  $F_i$ 

**Remark 2.3.2.** [10, p.22]. (i) The barycentric coordinate  $\lambda_i$  is an affine function that takes the value 1 at the node  $a_i$  and which is equal to zero at  $F_i$ .

(ii) The barycenter *B* of *K* has barycentric coordinates  $(\frac{1}{d+1}, ..., \frac{1}{d+1})$  (cf. remark B.32 in [15]). (iii) The barycentric coordinates fulfill the following properties:

For all  $x \in K$ ,  $0 \le \lambda_i \le 1$  and for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \lambda_i(x) = 1 \text{ and } \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \lambda_i(x)(x-a_i) = 0.$$

**Example 2.3.3.** (i) In dimension 1, the barycentric coordinates on  $K = [x_0, x_1]$  are given by

$$\lambda_0(x) = 1 - \frac{x - x_0}{x_1 - x_0} = \frac{x_1 - x}{x_1 - x_0}$$
 and  $\lambda_1(x) = 1 - \frac{x - x_1}{x_0 - x_1} = \frac{x - x_0}{x_1 - x_0}$ 

which coincides with the results for the linear shape functions from the beginning in the one dimensional case.

(ii) In the unit simplex in dimension 2 one obtains the barycentric coordinates  $\lambda_0 = 1 - x_1 - x_2$ ,  $\lambda_1 = x_1$  and  $\lambda_2 = x_2$ .

(iii) In dimension 3 one finds  $\lambda_0 = 1 - x_1 - x_2 - x_3$ ,  $\lambda_1 = x_1$ ,  $\lambda_2 = x_2$  and  $\lambda_3 = x_3$ .

Of course there is also a generalization of the polynomial space for higher dimensions. We will denote it by  $\mathbb{P}_{k}^{d}$ .

**Definition 2.3.4** (The polynomial space  $\mathbb{P}_k^d$ ). [10, p.22]. Let  $x = (x_1, ..., x_d)$  and let  $\mathbb{P}_k^d$  denote the space of polynomials in the variables  $x_1, ..., x_d$  with real coefficients and of global degree at most k, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{P}_k^d = \left\{ p(x) = \sum_{0 \le i_1, \dots, i_d \le k, i_1 + \dots + i_d \le k} \alpha_{i_1 \dots i_d} x_1^{i_1} \dots x_d^{i_d} \mid \alpha_{i_1, \dots, i_d} \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

**Remark 2.3.5** (Local shape functions). [10, p.22]. (i) For k = 1 the local shape functions  $\vartheta_i$  are given through the barycentric coordinates, i.e.,

$$\vartheta_i = \lambda_i, \ 0 \leq i \leq d.$$

(ii) In the situation of k = 2 the local shape functions are given by

$$\lambda_i(2\lambda_i-1), \ 0 \leq i \leq d, \ ext{and} \ 4\lambda_i\lambda_j, \ 0 \leq i < j \leq d.$$

### 2.4 Error Bounds

In the end of this chapter we want to give multiple error estimates for the Lagrange interpolation operator. They are based on the error estimates which we stated earlier in sections 1.3 and 1.6. We follow the presentation in section 1.5.1 in [10].

#### 2.4.1 Error Bound Involving the Lebesgue Constant

We have already proven that the interpolation error of an interpolation operator is bounded by an expression involving the Lebesgue constant (cf. theorem 1.3.7). Hence, we obtain the following result for the Lagrange interpolation operator.

**Theorem 2.4.1** (Error bound for the Lagrange interpolation operator involving the Lebesgue constant). Consider the general Lagrange interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_{K}^{L}$  (cf. p.15) with the space  $V(K) = \mathcal{C}^{0}(K)$  and denote the Lebesgue constant by  $\Lambda$ . It holds

$$||\mathbf{v} - \mathcal{I}_{K}^{L}(\mathbf{v})||_{\mathcal{C}^{0}(K)} \leq (1 + \Lambda) \inf_{\mathbf{p} \in P} ||\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{p}||_{\mathcal{C}^{0}(K)}.$$

*Proof.* This is an application of theorem 1.3.7.

**Remark 2.4.2** (On the error bound). (i) One can show that the Lebesgue constant in the case of the Lagrange interpolation operator is given by

$$\Lambda = ||\lambda||_{\mathcal{C}^0(\mathcal{K})}$$

with the Lebesgue function  $\lambda(x) := \sum_{i \in N} |\vartheta_i(x)|$  for all  $x \in K$  (cf. example 5.1.5 in [19]).

(ii) Note that only the first inequality of the theorem 1.3.7 holds since  $C^0(K)$  together with the  $L^2$  scalar product is only a pre-Hilbert space.

#### **2.4.2** Error Bounds for Interpolation in $W^{s,\rho}(\Omega)$

Now we give some error estimates for the Lagrange interpolation operator when interpolating in Sobolev spaces. We consider the Lagrange finite element of degree k and set  $V(\widehat{K}) = C^0(\widehat{K})$ . It follows that under these circumstances the condition on I in the local error estimate (cf. theorem 1.6.1) becomes  $\frac{d}{p} - 1 < I \leq k$ . Concretely, by the Rellich<sup>46</sup>-Kondrachov<sup>47</sup> theorem (cf. theorem B.46 in [10].) it holds that  $W^{I+1,p}(\widehat{K}) \subset V(\widehat{K})$  if  $I+1 > \frac{d}{p}$ . Using this observation on can formulate the following local error estimate (cf. example 1.106 (i) in [10]).

**Corollary 2.4.3** (Local error estimate). *In the setting of theorem 1.6.1 and using the condition on I from above it holds* 

$$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l+1,p}(K) : |v - \mathcal{I}_K^k v|_{W^{m,p}(K)} \leq ch_K^{l+1-m} \sigma_K^m |v|_{W^{l+1,p}(K)}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Franz Rellich (1906-1955) was an Austrian-German mathematician (cf. [30]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Vladimir Iosifovich Kondrashov (1909-1971) was a Soviet mathematician (cf. [40]).

*Proof.* See theorem 1.6.1.

**Corollary 2.4.4** (Global error estimate). [10, Example 1.111]. Considering a Lagrange finite element of degree k with p = 2 and  $d \le 3$ . One can take by the conditions on l from above  $1 \le l \le k$  and using the global interpolation estimate (cf. theorem 1.6.4) one finds for all functions  $v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega)$  that

$$||\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k\mathbf{v}||_{L^2(\Omega)}+h|\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k|_{H^1(\Omega)}\leq ch^{l+1}|\mathbf{v}|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. See theorem 1.6.4.

**Remark 2.4.5** (Optimal error estimate). [10, Example 1.111]. (i) Note that this error estimate is optimal if  $v \in H^{k+1}(\Omega)$ .

(ii) [10, Rmk.1.112]. The estimate also holds true for l not being an integer. Let  $k \ge 1$  and  $d \le 3$ . We can apply the derived error estimate with  $l = k - \frac{d}{2}$  and  $p = \infty$  because  $W^{k+1-\frac{d}{2},\infty}(\widehat{K}) \subset C^0(\widehat{K})$  with continuous embedding, i.e.,  $k + 1 - \frac{d}{2} > 0$ . We obtain for functions  $v \in W^{k+1-\frac{d}{2},\infty}$  that

$$||\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k\mathbf{v}||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq ch^{k+1-\frac{d}{2}}|\mathbf{v}|_{W^{k+1-\frac{d}{2},\infty}(\Omega)}.$$

Using the continuous embedding  $H^{k+1}(\Omega) \subset W^{k+1-\frac{d}{2},\infty}$  yields for all h and for all  $v \in H^{k+1}(\Omega)$  that

$$||\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^k\mathbf{v}||_{L^\infty(\Omega)}\leq ch^{k+1-rac{d}{2}}|\mathbf{v}|_{H^{k+1}(\Omega)}.$$

Moreover, if  $v \in W^{k+1,\infty}(\Omega)$  we obtain the sharper estimate

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_h^k v||_{L^\infty(\Omega)} \leq ch^{k+1} |v|_{W^{k+1,\infty}(\Omega)}$$

using theorem 1.6.4.

## **3** The Clément Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_h^{Cle}$

Often one faces the problem of interpolating non-smooth functions. This means that a function may be too rough and hence is not in the domain of the Lagrange interpolation operator anymore. Recall that we concluded in remark 1.5.6 that functions which lie in  $L^2(\Omega)$  or in  $H^1(\Omega)$  in dimension  $d \ge 2$  are discontinuous in general. Then the Lagrange interpolation operator, which evaluates functions at a finite number of given points, is not well-defined anymore. Clément proposed in his paper from 1975 (cf. [1]) an interpolation operator in order to fix this problem. His idea is based on "local regularization" and is therefore a combination of the  $L^2$  projection, which we will discuss in more detail in chapter 5, and the Lagrange interpolation from chapter 2. We will first present the construction of this interpolation operator and then discuss its properties. In the end of this chapter we will comment on the advantages and disadvantages of this operator. The construction presented here closely follows section 1.6.1 in [10].

### 3.1 Construction of the Clément Interpolation Operator

Let  $\Omega$  be a polyhedron and let  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  be a shape-regular family of affine, simplicial, geometrically conformal meshes (cf. chapter 1).

We will use the  $H^1$ -conformal approximation space

$$P_{c,h}^{k} := \{ \mathbf{v}_{h} \in \mathcal{C}^{0}(\overline{\Omega}) \mid \forall K \in \mathcal{T}_{h}, \mathbf{v}_{h} \circ \mathcal{T}_{K} \in \mathbb{P}_{k} \},\$$

where *c* refers to the continuity across mesh interfaces. Recall that  $H^1$ -conformal means in this case that  $P_{c,h}^k \subset H^1$ . We denote by  $\{a_1, ..., a_N\}$  the Lagrange nodes. Further, we consider a set  $\{\varphi_1, ..., \varphi_n\}$  of global shape functions in  $P_{c,h}^k$ . The Clément interpolation operator uses collections of simplices that share a common node.

**Definition 3.1.1** (Macroelements). [10, p.68]. Let  $a_i$  be a node. A macroelement associated with  $a_i$  consists of all simplices in the mesh that contain the node  $a_i$ .

We will write  $M_i$  for a macroelement associated with a node  $a_i$ . Examples for macroelements are given in figure 7.



Figure 7: Different macroelements (inspired by figure 1.24 in [10]).

Those macroelements  $M_i$  can be configurated in only a finite number of ways. We will denote this number of configurations by  $n_{cf}$ . Let  $\{\widehat{M}_n\}_{1 \le n \le n_{cf}}$  be the list of reference macroelements. Next we define the map

$$j: \{1, \dots, N\} \longrightarrow \{1, \dots, n_{\mathsf{cf}}\}$$

which maps the index i of a macroelement  $M_i$  to the index of a reference configuration. Moreover, let

$$F_{M_i}: \widehat{M}_{i(i)} \to M_i$$

be a diffeomorphism from  $\widehat{M}_{j(i)}$  to  $M_i$  such that for all reference mesh cells  $\widehat{K}$  that lie in the reference configuration  $\widehat{M}_{j(i)}$ , i.e.,  $\widehat{K} \in \widehat{M}_{j(i)}$ , the restriction  $F_{M_i|\widehat{K}}$  to the reference mesh cell is affine. Now for a reference macroelement  $\widehat{M}_n$  and a function  $\widehat{\nu} \in L^1(\widehat{M}_n)$ , we let  $\widehat{\pi}_n \widehat{\nu}$  be the unique

Now for a reference macroelement  $M_n$  and a function  $\hat{v} \in L^1(M_n)$ , we let  $\hat{\pi}_n \hat{v}$  be the unique polynomial in  $\mathbb{P}_k(\widehat{M}_n)$  such that for all polynomials  $\hat{q} \in \mathbb{P}_k(\widehat{M}_n)$  one has

$$\int_{\widehat{M}_n} (\widehat{\pi}_n \widehat{v} - \widehat{v}) \widehat{q} = 0$$

or equivalently

$$(\widehat{\pi}_n \widehat{v} - \widehat{v}, \widehat{q})_{L^2(\widehat{M}_n)} = 0 \ \forall \widehat{q} \in \mathbb{P}_k.$$

In particular,  $\widehat{\pi}_n \widehat{v}$  is the local  $L^2(\widehat{M}_n)$ -projection of  $\widehat{v} \in L^1(\widehat{M}_n)$ . Finally, the Clément interpolation operator is of the form

$$\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{Cle}} : \mathcal{L}^{1}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{c,h}^{k}$$
$$v \longmapsto \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{Cle}} v = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \widehat{\pi}_{j(i)}(v \circ \mathcal{F}_{M_{i}})(\mathcal{F}_{M_{i}}^{-1}(a_{i}))\varphi_{i}.$$

#### 3.2 Stability and Approximation Estimates

**Lemma 3.2.1** (Stability). [10, Lemma 1.127]. Let the assumptions from section 3.1 hold and let  $1 \le p < \infty$  and  $0 \le m \le 1$ . There exists a constant c such that for all h and for all  $v \in W^{m,p}(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$||\mathcal{I}_h^{Cle}v||_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)} \leq c||v||_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}.$$

**Lemma 3.2.2** (Approximation). [10, Lemma 1.127]. For  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  we denote by  $\Delta_K$  the set of elements in  $\mathcal{T}_h$  sharing at least one vertex with the mesh cell K. Let F be an interface between two elements of  $\mathcal{T}_h$ , and denote by  $\Delta_F$  the set of elements in  $\mathcal{T}_h$  sharing at least one vertex with F. Let I, m and p satisfy  $1 \le p \le \infty$  and  $0 \le m \le l \le k + 1$ . Then there exists a constant c such that for all h, for all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  and for all  $v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_K)$  one has

$$||\mathbf{v}-\mathcal{I}_h^{\mathit{Cle}}\mathbf{v}||_{W^{m,p}(K)}\leq ch_K^{l-m}||\mathbf{v}||_{W^{l,p}(\Delta_K)}.$$

Similarly, if  $m + \frac{1}{p} \leq l \leq k + 1$ , then for all h for all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  and for all  $v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_F)$  the estimate

$$||v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{Cle}v||_{W^{m,p}(F)} \le ch^{l-m-\frac{1}{p}}||v||_{W^{l,p}(\Delta_{F})}$$

holds.

**Corollary 3.2.3.** [10, Cor. 1.128]. Let the assumptions from the previous lemma hold. Furthermore let  $0 \le l \le k+1$  and let  $0 \le m \le \min(1, l)$ . Then there exists a constant c such that for all h and for all  $v \in W^{l,p}(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$\inf_{\boldsymbol{v}\in P_{c,h}^k}||\boldsymbol{v}-\boldsymbol{v}_h||_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)}\leq ch^{l-m}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{W^{l,p}(\Omega)}.$$

**Remark 3.2.4** (On the Clément interpolation operator). [10, Rmk.1.129]. (i) The Clément interpolation operator is not a projection, i.e.  $\mathcal{I}_h^{\text{Cle}}\mathcal{I}_h^{\text{Cle}}v \neq v$ .

(ii) Another disadvantage of the Clément interpolation operator relies on the fact that this operator does not preserve homogenous boundary conditions. In particular, if v vanishes on the boundary, then in general the interpolant  $\mathcal{I}_h^{\text{Cle}}v$  does not need to vanish on the boundary as well. Usually one approaches this problem by setting the boundary nodal values to zero. In fact, one can show that the Clément interpolation operator, modified this way, still fulfills the lemmas 3.2.1 and 3.2.2.

(iii) For the treatment of domains with curved boundaries there exist generalizations of the Clément interpolation operator. One can also adjust the operator to other finite elements. References on these topics are [2] and [8].

**Remark 3.2.5** (Motivating the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator). The disadvantages adressed in the previous remark motivated the construction of the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator, which tries to fix those issues and which we are going to introduce in the next chapter.

# 4 The Scott-Zhang Interpolation Operator $\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}$

The disadvantages of the discussed Clément interpolation operator are that it does not preserve homogenous boundary conditions and that it does not satisfy the projection property (cf. remark 3.2.4). In order to solve the problem of not preserving homogenous boundary conditions one can set the boundary nodal values to zero. However, this procedure cannot be easily generalized to the case of a nonhomogenous boundary.

Scott and Zhang constructed in their paper from 1990 (cf. [3]) another interpolation operator which is a projection and preserves homogenous boundary conditions in a natural way. We will again explain its construction and then state its stability and approximation properties. This chapter is based on section 1.6.2 in [10] and on the paper [3].

### 4.1 Construction of the Scott-Zhang Interpolation Operator

Again we will consider a polyhedron  $\Omega$  and a shape-regular family of affine, simplicial, geometrically conformal meshes  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$ . As before we will use the approximation space  $P_{c,h}^k$  and consider a set of Lagrange nodes  $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^N$ . To each of these nodes we will assign either a *d*-simplex or a (d-1)-simplex, which we denote by  $\zeta_i$ . In particular we need to differ between different cases.

**Case 1:** If the node  $a_i$  lies in the interior of a *d*-simplex, i.e.,  $a_i \in \overset{\circ}{K}$ , we set  $\zeta_i = K$ .

**Case 2:** If the node  $a_i$  lies in the interior of a face F, which is a (d-1)-simplex one chooses  $\zeta_i = F$ . For the other nodes  $a_i$  that lie on a (d-2)-simplex one is allowed to associate this node with any (d-1)-simplex F such that  $a_i \in \overline{F}$ , i.e.,  $\zeta_i = F$ .

One exception to the freedom of choice in case 2 is the third case.

**Case 3:** In the case that  $a_i$  is at the boundary and lies in the intersection of a number of different faces one chooses the face that belongs to the boundary, i.e.,  $F \subset \partial \Omega$ .



Figure 8: Visualizations of cases 2 and 3 (the right-hand side was inspired by figure 1.26 in [10]).

Figure 8 visualizes case 2 and case 3. The left-hand side shows the situation that a node lies on the boundary of the triangulated domain. Hence, as described in case 3, one needs to choose one of the green faces. The right-hand side shows a node  $a_i$ , which is on a face. Thus, one associates the green face with the node  $a_i$ .

For the number of nodes being contained in  $\zeta_i$  we will write  $n_i$ . For example, the chosen face on the righ-hand side of figure 8 contains three nodes. That means for this case we would have  $n_i = 3$ .

By  $\{\varphi_{i,q}\}_{1 \le q \le n_i}$  we denote the restrictions to  $\zeta_i$  of the local shape functions associated with the nodes that lie in  $\zeta_i$ . We will follow the convention of setting  $\varphi_{i,1} = \varphi_i$ .

Finally, let t be an integer with  $1 \le t \le n$  we define the function  $\Psi_{i,t} \in \text{span}\{\varphi_{i,1}, ..., \varphi_{i,n_i}\}$  as the unique function for which

$$\int_{\zeta_i} \Psi_{i,t} \varphi_{i,r} = \delta_{tr}, \ 1 \le t, r \le n_i,$$

holds. Note that  $\delta_{tr}$  denotes the Kronecker delta.

Using this, we define the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator as

$$\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}: W^{l,p}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{P}_{c,h}^{k}$$
$$v \longmapsto \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \varphi_{i} \int_{\zeta_{i}} \Psi_{i,1}v.$$

**Remark 4.1.1** (Properties of the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator). From  $v_{|\partial\Omega} = 0$  it follows by the definition of the operator that  $\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ} v_{|\partial\Omega} = 0$ , which means that that the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator preserves homogenous boundary conditions. Also note that by the definition of  $\Psi_{i,t}$  it is true that for all functions  $v_h \in P_{c,h}^k$  it holds that  $\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ} v_h = v_h$ . In fact, one computes for all basis functions  $\varphi_k$  that

$$\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}\varphi_{k} = \sum_{i=1}^{N}\varphi_{i}\int_{\zeta_{i}}\Psi_{i,1}\varphi_{k} = \sum_{i=1}^{N}\varphi_{i}\cdot\delta_{ik} = \varphi_{k}$$

with  $\delta_{ik}$  denoting the Kronecker delta. Hence, the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator is a projection. We see that the disadvantages that we identified in the case of the Clément interpolation operator are cured.

#### 4.2 Stability and Approximation Properties

We will now state the the stability and approximation properties of the interpolation operator we have just constructed.

**Lemma 4.2.1** (Stability and approximation properties). [10, Lemma 1.130]. Let p and l satisfy  $1 \le p < +\infty$  and  $l \ge 1$  if p = 1, and  $l > \frac{1}{p}$  otherwise. Then there exists a constant c such that (i) for all  $0 \le m \le \min(1, l)$  it holds that

$$\forall h, \forall v \in W^{I,p}(\Omega) : ||\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}v||_{W^{m,p}(\Omega)} \leq c||v||_{W^{I,p}(\Omega)}.$$

(ii) Provided  $l \le k + 1$ , for all  $0 \le m \le l$ , one has

$$\forall h, \forall K \in \mathcal{T}_h, \forall v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_K) : ||v - \mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}v||_{W^{m,p}(K)} \leq ch_K^{l-m}|v|_{W^{l,p}(\Delta_K)}.$$

*Proof.* The corresponding proofs are given in [3].

**Remark 4.2.2** (Disadvantages of the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator). Even though, the problems of the Clément interpolation operator get fixed, the Scott-Zhang operator comes with its own disadvantages. First, one should note that this operator is only defined for Lagrange finite elements. A second issue, one should care about, is the fact that for the projection over the facets one needs that the function one wants to project is smooth enough because one needs to make sure that its trace over any facet is well-defined (cf. p.2 in [14]).

# **5** $L^2$ -Orthogonal Projection $\pi_{L^2}$

Instead of interpolation operators one can use so-called projection operators. An often considered choice is the  $L^2$  projection, which we are going to present in this chapter. We will first introduce the ordinary  $L^2$  projection following the structure and material from section 1.6.3 in [10]. Afterwards we will present a more special case of the  $L^2$  projection, namely the weighted  $L^2$  projection. We will see that the weighted version of the  $L^2$  projection leads to a more complicated situation where error and stability estimates are not derived as easily as in the case of the ordinary  $L^2$  projection.

### 5.1 The Ordinary L<sup>2</sup> Projection

Let  $P_{c,h}^k$  again denote the  $H^1$ -conformal space used previously in the chapters 3 and 4. We consider the orthogonal projection operator

$$\pi_{L^2}: L^2(\Omega) \longrightarrow P^k_{c,h}$$

with the scalar product  $(u, v)_{L^2(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} uv \, dx$ . Now the  $L^2$ -projection  $\pi_{L^2}v \in P_{c,h}^k$  for a function  $v \in L^2(\Omega)$  is defined by the equation

$$(v - \pi_{L^2}v, u)_{L^2(\Omega)} = 0 \quad \forall u \in P_{c,h}^k$$

**Lemma 5.1.1** (Stability). [10, Lemma 1.131]. Let  $k \ge 1$ . It holds that

$$\forall \mathbf{v} \in L^2(\Omega) : ||\pi_{L^2}\mathbf{v}||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le ||\mathbf{v}||_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

Moreover, if the family  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  is quasi-uniform, there exists a constant c such that

$$\forall h, \forall v \in H^1(\Omega) : ||\pi_{L^2}v||_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq c||v||_{H^1(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* The first stability estimate follows directly from the definition by using the Pythagoras identity, which results in

$$||\mathbf{v}||_{L^{2}}^{2} = ||\pi_{L^{2}}\mathbf{v}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + ||\mathbf{v} - \pi_{L^{2}}\mathbf{v}||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$

For the second estimate let  $v \in H^1(\Omega)$ . We consider its Scott-Zhang interpolant  $\mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}v$ , which we defined in the previous section. One finds

$$\begin{aligned} ||\pi_{L^{2}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} &\leq ||\pi_{L^{2}}v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \text{ (triangle inequality)} \\ &= ||\pi_{L^{2}}(v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v)||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \text{ (using } \pi_{L^{2}}(\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v) = \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v) \\ &\leq ch^{-1}||\pi_{L^{2}}(v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v)||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \text{ (inverse inequality)} \\ &\leq ch^{-1}||v - \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + ||\mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \text{ (}L^{2}\text{-stability of } \pi_{L^{2}}) \\ &\leq c'||v||_{H^{1}(\Omega)} \text{ (}H^{1}\text{-stability and approximation properties of } \mathcal{I}_{h}^{\mathsf{SZ}}). \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

**Definition 5.1.2** (Negative-norm). [10, p.72]. For  $s \ge 1$  and  $v \in L^2(\Omega)$  the *negative-norm* is defined by

$$||v||_{H^{-s}(\Omega)} = \sup_{w \in H^s(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)} \frac{(v, w)_{L^2(\Omega)}}{||w||_{H^s(\Omega)}}.$$

**Remark 5.1.3** (About this norm). [10, p.72]. This norm is not the norm, which is used used to construct the dual space  $H^{-s}(\Omega)$  except for s = 1.

Having defined this norm, we are able to write down an error bound for the  $L^2$ -projection operator.

**Proposition 5.1.4** (Error bound in the negative-norm). [10, Prop. 1.133]. Let  $k \ge 1$  and  $1 \le s \le k + 1$ . Then there exists a constant c such that

$$\forall h, \forall v \in L^2(\Omega) : ||v - \pi_{L^2}v||_{H^{-s}(\Omega)} \leq ch^s \inf_{\substack{v_h \in P_{c,h}^k \\ c,h}} ||v - v_h||_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $v \in L^2(\Omega)$  and  $w \in H^s(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)$ . We know that  $s \leq k + 1$ . Hence, we can argue by the lemma about the approximation properties of the Clément interpolation operator (cf. lemma 3.2.2) that

$$||w - \mathcal{I}_h^{\mathsf{Cle}}w||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ch^s |w|_{H^s(\Omega)}.$$

Next we note that  $v - \pi_{L^2} v$  is  $L^2$ -orthogonal to  $P_{c,h}^k$ . Thus, we may conclude that

$$(v - \pi_{L^2}v, w)_{L^2(\Omega)} = (v - \pi_{L^2}v, w - \mathcal{I}_h^{\mathsf{Cle}}w)_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ch^s ||v - \pi_{L^2}v||_{L^2(\Omega)} ||w||_{H^s(\Omega)}.$$

This completes the proof.

In the end we also want to give the following local and global error bounds for functions in Sobolev spaces.

**Lemma 5.1.5** (Local error estimate). [19, Lemma 11.18]. Let  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . There exists a constant c such that for every integers  $r \in \{0, ..., k + 1\}$  and  $m \in \{0, ..., r\}$ , all functions  $v \in W^{r,p}(K)$ , all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$ , and all h the error estimate

$$|v - \pi_{L^2}(v)|_{W^{m,p}(K)} \le ch_K^{r-m}|v|_{W^{r,p}(K)}$$

holds.

*Proof.* A proof is given in on page 134 in [19].

**Proposition 5.1.6** (Global error estimates). [10, Prop. 1.134]. Let  $1 \le l \le k$ . There exists a constant c such that, for all h and all functions  $v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$||m{v}-\pi_{L^2}(m{v})||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ch^{l+1}|m{v}|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}$$

Furthermore, if the family  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  is quasi-uniform, there exists a constant c such that for all h and for a function  $v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega)$  one has

$$||v - \pi_{L^2}(v)||_{H^1(\Omega)} \le ch'|v|_{H'^{+1}(\Omega)}$$

*Proof.* A sketch of the proof is given on page 80 in [10].

**Remark 5.1.7** (On the  $L^2$  projection). (i) An advantage of the presented  $L^2$  projection is that, contrary to the introduced Lagrange interpolation operator, the  $L^2$  projection does not require that the functions we want to approximate are continuous.

(ii) An algorithm for computing the  $L^2$  projection is given in section 1.3.3 in [13].

### 5.2 The Weighted L<sup>2</sup> Projection

The study of solving second-order elliptic boundary value problems with discontinuous coefficients, where the discretized version appears harder to be solved, motivated a modification of the ordinary  $L^2$  projection by introducing weights in the definition of the  $L^2$  projection. In this section we will introduce these kinds of weighted  $L^2$ -projections and investigate  $L^2$ -error estimates as well as their  $H^1$ -stability. This section follows the presentation in the papers [4] and [6].

In this section let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $1 \leq d \leq 3$ , be a domain, which will be decomposed such that

$$\overline{\Omega} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{J} \overline{\Omega}_i$$

with the  $\Omega_i$  being mutually disjoint, i.e., for any pair of subdomains  $\{\Omega_m, \Omega_n\}$  it holds that  $\Omega_m \cap \Omega_n = \emptyset$  for  $m \neq n$ . We further assume that  $\{\mathcal{T}_h\}_{h>0}$  with  $h \in (0, 1)$  is a quasi-uniform (cf. def. 1.1.20) family of triangulations of  $\overline{\Omega}$  such that the triangulations line up with the subdomains. As a consequence of this assumption, a restriction of  $\mathcal{T}_h$  to a subdomain  $\Omega_i$  will be a triangulation of the subdomain itself. We will denote the set of interfaces by  $\Gamma$ , i.e.,  $\Gamma := \bigcup_{i=1}^J \partial \Omega_i \setminus \partial \Omega$  and make the assumption that  $\Gamma$  consists only of segments (d = 2) or plane polygons d = 3. Let  $\{\omega_i\}_{i=1}^J$  be a set of positive constants. We define the weighted inner products by

$$(u, v)_{L^2_\omega}(\Omega) := \sum_{i=1}^J \omega_i (u, v)_{L^2(\Omega_i)}$$

and

$$(u, v)_{\mathcal{H}^1_\omega(\Omega)} := \sum_{i=1}^J \omega_i \int_{\Omega_i} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \mathrm{d}x$$

with the induced norms  $||\cdot||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)}$  and  $|\cdot|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}$ . Additionally, we define

$$||\cdot||^{2}_{H^{1}_{\omega}(\Omega)} = ||\cdot||^{2}_{L^{2}_{\omega}(\Omega)} + |\cdot|^{2}_{H^{1}_{\omega}(\Omega)}$$

to be the full weighted  $H^1$  norm.

**Definition 5.2.1** (The weighted  $L^2$  projection). [4, p.470]. Let  $P_{0,h}^1 \subset H_0^1(\Omega)$  be the finite element space consisting of piecewise linear polynomials that vanish on the boundary of the domain  $\partial\Omega$ . The weighted  $L^2$  projection

$$\pi_h^{\omega}: L^2(\Omega) \longrightarrow P^1_{0,h}$$

is defined by the property

$$\forall u \in L^2(\Omega), v \in P^1_{0,h} : (\pi^{\omega}_h u, v)_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)} = (u, v)_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

In dimension 1, one easily derives the following error estimate.

**Proposition 5.2.2** (Error estimate for d = 1). [4, Prop. 4.1]. For d = 1, we have that for all functions  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  there exist constants  $c_1, c_2$  such that

$$||u - \pi_h^\omega u||_{L^2_\omega(\Omega)} \leq c_1 h |u|_{H^1_\omega(\Omega)}$$

and

$$|\pi_h^{\omega} u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq c_2 |u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* Since we are just in one dimension it holds by the Sobolev embedding theorems that  $H^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C(\overline{\Omega})$  (cf. remark 1.5.6). In particular, we know that the Lagrange interpolation operator  $\mathcal{I}_h^1$ :  $C(\overline{\Omega}) \to P_{0,h}^1$  is well-defined for functions from  $H^1(\Omega)$ . Moreover, we know that for any  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  it holds that for all  $u \in H^1(K)$  we have

$$||u - \mathcal{I}_h^1 u||_{L^2(K)} \le ch|u|_{H^1(K)}.$$

Now by summing over all mesh cells  $K \in \mathcal{T}_h$  with using proper weights we find

$$||u - \mathcal{I}_h^1 u||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq ch|u|_{\mathcal{H}^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}$$

for all functions  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Finally, we note that the first inequality is now obtained by observing that  $||u - \pi_h^{\omega}u||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq ||u - \mathcal{I}_h^1u||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)}$ . The second inequality follows just as in the case of the ordinary  $L^2$  projection.

**Remark 5.2.3** (Generalization to higher dimensions). One should note that one cannot use the same approach in order to find similar error estimates in higher dimensions. The reason for that is that for d > 1 functions in  $H^1(\Omega)$  do not need to be continuous any longer (cf. remark 1.5.6).

#### 5.2.1 No Internal Cross Points

**Definition 5.2.4** (Internal cross points). [4, p. 471]. A point on  $\Gamma$  that belongs to more than two subdomains  $\overline{\Omega}_i$  is called an *internal cross point*.

We introduce a weighted inner product on  $L^2(\Gamma)$ . Therefore we define

$$(u, v)_{L^2_{\omega}(\Gamma)} := \sum_{i=1}^J \int_{\partial \Omega_i \setminus \partial \Omega} \omega_i u v \, \mathrm{d} s.$$

Also define  $P_{0,h}^1(\Gamma) := \{v_{|\Gamma} \mid v \in P_{0,h}^1\}$ . Let  $P_{\Gamma} : L^2(\Gamma) \longrightarrow P_{0,h}^1(\Gamma)$  be the orthogonal projection with respect to the just defined inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2_{\omega}(\Gamma)}$ .

**Lemma 5.2.5.** [4, Lemma 4.2]. For all  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$||u-\pi_h^{\omega}u||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq C(h|u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}+h^{\frac{1}{2}}||u-P_{\Gamma}u||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Gamma)}).$$

*Proof.* <sup>48</sup> On each subdomain  $\Omega_i$  there exists  $w_i \in P^1_{0,h}(\Omega_i)$  such that

$$||u - w_i||^2_{L^2(\Omega_i)} + h^2 ||u - w_i||^2_{H^1(\Omega_i)} \le ch^2 ||u||^2_{H^1(\Omega_i)}.$$

A justification for this is given by proposition 3.5 in [4]. Next, define  $w \in P_{0,h}^1$  by

$$w := \begin{cases} w_i & \text{at the nodes in } \Omega_i, \\ P_{\Gamma} u & \text{on } \Gamma. \end{cases}$$

Then, using the well known fact that for constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  as well as functions  $v \in P^1_{0,h}$  one has

$$C_1 h^d \sum_{x \in N} v^2(x) \le ||v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \le C_2 h^d \sum_{x \in N} v^2(x)$$
(7)

with N denoting the set of vertices of the triangulation, one obtains

$$\begin{split} ||u - w||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} &= ||u - w_{i} + w_{i} - w||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &= ||u - w_{i}||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + 2(u - w_{i}, w_{i} - w)_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)} + ||w_{i} - w||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}||u - w_{i}||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}||w_{i} - w||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} \\ &\stackrel{(7)}{\leq} \sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}||u - w_{i}||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + C_{1}h^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}\sum_{\rho \in \mathcal{T}_{h}} |(w_{i} - w)(\rho)|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}||u - w_{i}||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + C_{1}h^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}\left(\sum_{\rho \in \Omega_{i}} |(w_{i} - w_{i})(\rho)|^{2} + \sum_{\rho \in \Gamma_{i}} |(w_{i} - P_{\Gamma}u)(\rho)|^{2}\right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{J} ||u - w_{i}||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + C_{1}h^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{J}\sum_{\rho \in \Gamma_{i}} |(w_{i} - P_{\Gamma}u)(\rho)|^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}||u - w_{i}||_{L^{2}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + C_{1}h||w_{i} - P_{\Gamma}u||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Gamma)} \\ &\leq C_{2}\sum_{i=1}^{J} \omega_{i}h^{2}||u||_{H^{1}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} + C_{1}h||u - P_{\Gamma}u||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2} \\ &= C_{2}h^{2}|u|_{H_{\omega}^{1}(\Omega)}^{2} + C_{1}h||u - P_{\Gamma}u||_{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Note that for establishing the inequality in the seventh line we have used the fact that for a polynomial f of degree 1, the inequality  $|f(0)|^2 + |f(h)|^2 < Ch^{-1} \int_0^h f^2 dx$  holds. That is the reason why the exponent of h drops in two dimensions. In three dimensions the factor h would vanish.

For the last inequality we have used the inequality stated at the beginning of the proof.

Finally, using that  $||u - \pi_h^\omega u||_{L^2_\omega(\Omega)} \le ||u - w||_{L^2_\omega(\Omega)}$  we obtain the desired estimate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>Note that there is a typing error in the original paper. When bounding  $||u - w||^2_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)}$  the index *i* for the *w* in the last term of the first estimate is missing.

**Remark 5.2.6** (Independence of cross points). [4, p.471]. Taking a look at the proof, one sees that the proof does not depend on the existence of cross points. However, the only known application of it is the application to the case that the interface does not have any internal cross points.

Under the assumption that the decomposition of the domain  $\Omega$  does not have any internal cross points, one can prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.2.7.** [4, Thm.4.3]. Assume that the decomposition of the domain  $\Omega$  has no internal cross points. Then for all functions  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  one has

$$||u - \pi_h^\omega u||_{L^2_\omega(\Omega)} \le h|u|_{H^1_\omega(\Omega)}$$

and

$$|\pi_h^{\omega} u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq c |u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* First, we define a function  $\varphi \in P_0^1(\Gamma)$  as the orthogonal  $L^2$ -projection from  $L^2(\Gamma_i)$  to the restriction from  $P_0^1$  to  $\Gamma_i$ , i.e.,  $\varphi = P_{\Gamma_i} u$ . Since we know that  $\Gamma$  has no internal cross points we conclude that the defined function  $\varphi$  is well-defined.

Observe that it also holds that for all  $\Gamma_i$  one finds

$$||u-\varphi||_{L^2(\Gamma_i)} \leq ||u-w_i||_{L^2(\Gamma_i)}.$$

Due to lemma 2.1 in [4] we have

$$||u - w_i||^2_{L^2(\Gamma_i)} \leq \frac{1}{h}||u - w_i||^2_{L^2(\Omega_i)} + h||u - w_i||^2_{H^1(\Omega_i)}.$$

It follows

$$h||u-w_i||^2_{L^2(\Gamma_i)} \leq c(||u-w_i||^2_{L^2(\Omega_i)}+h^2||u-w_i||^2_{H^1(\Omega_i)}) \leq ch^2|u|_{H^1(\Omega_i)}.$$

This implies

$$h||u - P_{\Gamma}u||_{L^{2}_{\omega}(\Gamma_{i})}^{2} \leq ch\sum_{i=1}^{J}\omega_{i}||u - \varphi||_{L^{2}(\Gamma_{i})}^{2} \leq ch^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{J}\omega_{i}|u|_{H^{1}(\Omega_{i})}^{2} = h^{2}|u|_{H^{1}_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

Now using lemma 5.2.4 leads to the desired estimate. Moreover, note that the other inequality follows similarly to the proof for the ordinary  $L^2$  projection (cf. lemma 5.1.1).

#### 5.2.2 Error Estimates Using "Finer" Finite Elements

The whole situation becomes more complicated if one allows internal cross points. We will now present some estimates under special circumstances. Even though the embedding  $H^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow C(\overline{\Omega})$  does not hold in d = 2 any longer, one could say that it is almost true for functions that lie in finite element subspaces (cf. p.472 in [4]). Based on this observation we will now state some further results for the more general situation.

**Theorem 5.2.8.** [4, Thm. 4.5]. For any function  $u \in P_{0,\underline{h}}^1$  with  $\underline{h} < h$  one has

$$||u - \pi_h^{\omega}||_{L^2_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq \begin{cases} ch(\log\frac{h}{h})\frac{1}{2}|u|_{H^1_{\omega}(K)}, & d = 2, \\ ch\left(\frac{h}{h}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|u|_{H^1_{\omega}(K)}, & d = 3, \end{cases}$$

and

$$|\pi_h^{\omega}u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq \begin{cases} c(\log\frac{h}{h})\frac{1}{2}|u|_{H^1_{\omega}(K)}, & d=2, \\ c\left(\frac{h}{h}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|u|_{H^1_{\omega}(K)}, & d=3, \end{cases}$$

with K being a mesh cell.

*Proof.* This is a direct consequence of lemma 4.4 in [4].

### **5.2.3** Error Estimates for Functions in $H^1$

In this section we will state some estimates for functions in  $H^1$ . For the proofs we will refer to the original paper [4].

The first lemma, we will present, tells us that we can find nearly optimal estimates if we use the full weighted  $H^1$  norms.

**Lemma 5.2.9.** [4, Lemma 4.6]. For all functions  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  one has

$$||u-\pi^{\omega}_{h}u||_{L^{2}_{\omega}(\Omega)}\leq ch|\log h|^{rac{1}{2}}||u||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* A proof of this statement is given on page 473 in [4].

From this lemma one obtains the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.2.10.** [4, Thm. 4.7]. If for all i the (d-1)-dimensional Lebesgue measure of  $(\partial \Omega_i \cap \partial \Omega)$  is positive, then for all functions  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  it holds that

$$||u - \pi_h^\omega u||_{L^2_\omega(\Omega)} \le ch|\log h|^{\frac{1}{2}}|u|_{H^1_\omega(\Omega)}$$

and

$$|\pi_h^{\omega} u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)} \leq c |\log h|^{\frac{1}{2}} |u|_{H^1_{\omega}(\Omega)}.$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of the previous lemma.

**Remark 5.2.11.** Note that the assumption on the measure is necessary and cannot be excluded. For more details the interested reader may consult [6].

### **6** The Elliptic Projector $\pi_{H^1}$

In this section we are going to present another orthogonal projection operator, which can be used for functions in  $H^1(\Omega)$ . This operator is called the elliptic projection operator or the Riesz projector. The material presented here is taken from section 1.6.3 in [10].

As before we use the  $H^1$ -conformal space  $P_{c,h}^k$  (cf. section 3.1). We consider the map

$$\pi_{H^1}: H^1(\Omega) \longrightarrow P^k_{c,h}$$

together with the scalar product

$$(u, v)_{H^1(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} uv + \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \nabla v.$$

Then the elliptic projection of a function  $v \in H^1(\Omega)$  denoted by  $\pi_{H^1}v$  is defined by the property

$$(\pi_{H^1}v - v, u)_{H^1(\Omega)} = 0 \quad \forall u \in P_{c,h}^k$$

**Lemma 6.0.1** (Stability). [10, Lemma 1.131]. Let  $k \ge 1$ . It holds that

$$\forall \mathbf{v} \in H^1(\Omega) : ||\pi_{H^1}||_{H^1(\Omega)} \leq ||\mathbf{v}||_{H^1(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* This estimate follows just as in the case for the  $L^2$  projection by using the Pythagoras identity (cf. lemma 5.1.1).

**Proposition 6.0.2** (Global error estimate). [10, Prop. 1.134]. Let  $1 \le l \le k$ .

(i) There exists a constant c such that

$$\forall h, \forall v \in H^{l+1} : ||v - \pi_{H^1}v||_{H^1(\Omega)} \le ch^l |v|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}$$

(ii) If  $\Omega$  is convex, there exists a constant c such that,

$$\forall h \forall v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega) : ||v - \pi_{H^1}v||_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ch^{l+1}|v|_{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}$$

*Proof.* This can be proven in conjunction with the global error estimate for the  $L^2$  projection. A sketch of the proof is given on page 80 in [10].

### 7 Conclusion

Throughout the previous discussions we have seen that even though the Lagrange interpolation is a popular choice when it comes to approximating functions, its use is accompanied by some difficulties like the lack of  $L^2$ -stability and the fact that it cannot handle functions that are not smooth enough in the sense that point evaluations are not well-defined.

We have then explained the construction of an interpolation operator invented by Clément, which addresses the problems that we identified while working with the Lagrange interpolation operator. Nevertheless, the Clément operator is not a good choice when it comes to the treatment of homogenous boundary conditions. Of course, one can follow the approach by Clément in setting the boundary nodal values to zero but this strategy cannot be generalized easily to the case of non-homogenous boundaries conditions.

Hence, we introduced the Scott-Zhang interpolation operator, which fixes this problem and satisfies in addition the projection property.

Next to the interpolation operators, we have also looked at projection operators, namely the  $L^2$  projection and a weighted version of it as well as the elliptic projection, which have the advantage that they are very simple and therefore easy to implement. However, we have seen that in the case of the weighted  $L^2$  projection, error estimates are a lot harder to derive as in the case for the ordinary  $L^2$  projection. After presenting this variety of different interpolation and projection operators, we have collected some of their most important stability and approximation properties in the table on the pages 46 and 47. This table is supposed to give the reader a good overview over the results we have seen in our discussions.

Obviously, we have not considered all interpolation operators available and this thesis just focuses on a choice of the most important ones. For example the interpolation operators by Crouzeix-Raviart or the Raviart-Thomas interpolation operator have not been adressed. The interested reader may consult the sections 1.2.6 and 1.2.7 in [10] for the treatment of those operators. Additionally, there are a lot more specializations of the interpolation operators we have presented. Some of them are presented in [19].

Moreover, we have limited ourselves to a quite basic setting regarding the domain, the properties of the meshes and the choice of the finite element spaces. Hence, the considerations that were undertaken in this thesis can be extended to way more general settings. For a more complete discussion of these topics we recommend the book [19].

Error Estimates	Local error estimate:	Under the assumptions of corollary 2.4.3:	$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l+1,p}(K) :  v - \mathcal{I}^{k}_{K} _{W^{m,p}(K)} \leq c h^{l+1-m}_{K} \sigma^{m}_{K} v _{W^{l+1,p}}.$	Global error estimate:	Under the assumptions of corollary 2.4.4:	$\forall v \in H^{l+1}:   v - \mathcal{I}_h^k v  _{L^2(\Omega)} + h v - \mathcal{I}_h^k _{H^1(\Omega)} \leq c h^{l+1}  v _{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}.$	Local error estimate:	Under the assumptions of lemma 3.2.2:	$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_K) :   v - \mathcal{I}^{Cle}_h v  _{W^{n,p}(K)} \leq ch_K^{l-m}  v  _{W^{l,p}(\Delta_K)}.$	$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_F) :   v - \mathcal{I}_h^{Cle}v  _{W^{m,p}(F)} \leq ch^{l-m-\frac{1}{p}}  v  _{W^{l,p}(\Delta_F)}.$	Local error estimate:	Under the assumptions of lemma 4.2.1:	$\forall K, \forall v \in W^{l,p}(\Delta_K) :   v - \mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}v  _{W^{m,p}(K)} \leq ch_K^{l-m} v _{W^{l,p}(\Delta_K)}.$	Local error estimate:	Under the assumptions of lemma 5.1.5:	$ oldsymbol{v}-\pi_{L^2}(oldsymbol{v}) _{W^{m,p}(\mathcal{K})}\leq ch_{\mathcal{K}}^{r-m} oldsymbol{v} _{W^{r,p}(\mathcal{K})}.$	Global error estimate:	$orall v \in H^{l+1} :   v - \pi_{L^2}(v)  _{L^2(\Omega)} \leq c h^{l+1}  v _{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}.$	For a quasi-uniform family $\{ T_h \}_{h > 0}$ one has	$\forall v \in H^{\prime+1}:   v-\pi_{L^2}(v)  _{H^1(\Omega)} \leq ch' v _{H^{\prime+1}(\Omega)}.$
Stability	$H^1$ -stable and $L^\infty$ -stable	but not $L^p$ -stable for $p \in [1,\infty)$ .					$W^{m,p}$ -stable for $1\leq p\leq\infty$	and $0 \leq m \leq 1$ .			Under the assumptions of lemma 4.2.1:	$orall h, orall oldsymbol{\kappa} \in W^{l,p}(\Omega)$ :	$  \mathcal{I}_h^{SZ}  u  _{W^{n,p}(\Omega)} \leq c    u  _{W^{l,p}(\Omega)}.$	$L^2$ -stable and if the family	$\{T_h\}_{h>0}$ is quasi-uniform also $H^1$ -stable.					
Interpolation/ Projection Operator	Lagrange Interpolation						Clément Interpolation				Scott-Zhang Interpolation			Ordinary L <sup>2</sup> Projection						

Error Estimates	$\begin{aligned} & \text{For } u \in P_{0,\underline{h}}^{1} :\\ & \left\  u - \pi_{h}^{\omega} u \right\ _{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \begin{cases} ch(\log \frac{h}{\overline{h}}) \frac{1}{2}  u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(K)}, & d = 2, \\ ch\left(\frac{h}{\overline{h}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}  u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(K)} & d = 3. \end{cases} \\ & \text{Under the assumptions of theorem 5.2.10:} \\ & \forall u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) :   u - \pi_{h}^{\omega} u  _{L_{\omega}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq ch \log h ^{\frac{1}{2}}  u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$	$\begin{split} &  Global \ error \ estimate \\ & \forall v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega) :   v - \pi_{H^1}v  _{H^1(\Omega)} \leq ch^l  v _{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}. \\ &  If \ \Omega \ is \ convex, \ then \\ &  \forall v \in H^{l+1}(\Omega) :   v - \pi_{H^1}v  _{L^2(\Omega)} \leq ch^{l+1}  v _{H^{l+1}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$	
Stability	$\begin{aligned} & \text{For } u \in P_{0,\underline{h}}^{1}:\\ &  \pi_{h}^{\omega}u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(\Omega)} \leq \begin{cases} c(\log\frac{h}{D})^{\frac{1}{2}} u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(K)}, & d=2,\\ c\left(\frac{h}{D}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(K)} & d=3. \end{aligned}$ $& \text{Under the assumptions of theorem 5.2.10:} & \forall u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega):  \pi_{h}^{\omega}u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(\Omega)} \leq c \log h ^{\frac{1}{2}} u _{H_{\omega}^{1}(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$	H <sup>1</sup> -stable	
Interpolation/ Projection Operator	Weighted L <sup>2</sup> Projection	Elliptic Projection	

### References

- Ph. Clement. "Approximation by finite element functions using local regularization". English.
   In: Rev. Franc. Automat. Inform. Rech. Operat., R 9.2 (1975), pp. 77–84. ISSN: 0397-9334.
- [2] Christine Bernardi. "Optimal Finite-Element Interpolation on Curved Domains". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 26.5 (1989), pp. 1212–1240. ISSN: 00361429. URL: http: //www.jstor.org/stable/2157925.
- [3] L. Ridgway Scott and Shangyou Zhang. "Finite element interpolation of nonsmooth functions satisfying boundary conditions". English. In: *Math. Comput.* 54.190 (1990), pp. 483–493. ISSN: 0025-5718. DOI: 10.2307/2008497.
- [4] James H. Bramble and Jinchao Xu. "Some estimates for a weighted L<sup>2</sup> projection". English.
   In: *Math. Comput.* 56.194 (1991), pp. 463–476. ISSN: 0025-5718. DOI: 10.2307/2008391.
- [5] P.G. Ciarlet. "Basic error estimates for elliptic problems". In: Finite Element Methods (Part 1). Vol. 2. Handbook of Numerical Analysis. Elsevier, 1991, pp. 17–351. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/S1570-8659(05)80039-0. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1570865905800390.
- [6] Jinchao Xu. "Counterexamples Concerning A Weighted L2 Projection". In: Mathematics of Computation 57.196 (1991), pp. 563–568. ISSN: 00255718, 10886842. URL: http://www. jstor.org/stable/2938704.
- [7] Jan Malý and William P. Ziemer. Fine regularity of solutions of elliptic partial differential equations. English. Vol. 51. Math. Surv. Monogr. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society, 1997. ISBN: 0-8218-0335-2.
- [8] C. Bernardi and V. Girault. "A Local Regularization Operator for Triangular and Quadrilateral Finite Elements". In: SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 35.5 (1998), pp. 1893–1916. ISSN: 00361429. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2587280.
- Jinchao Xu and Ludmil Zikatanov. "Some observations on Babuka and Brezzi theories". English. In: Numer. Math. 94.1 (2003), pp. 195–202. ISSN: 0029-599X. DOI: 10.1007/ s002110100308.
- [10] Alexandre Ern and Jean-Luc Guermond. *Theory and practice of finite elements*. English.
   Vol. 159. Appl. Math. Sci. New York, NY: Springer, 2004. ISBN: 0-387-20574-8.
- Tilo Arens et al. Grundwissen Mathematikstudium. Analysis und Lineare Algebra mit Querverbindungen. German. Heidelberg: Springer Spektrum, 2013. ISBN: 978-3-8274-2308-5; 978-3-8274-2309-2. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-8274-2309-2.

- [12] Wolfgang Kühnel. Differentialgeometrie. Kurven, Flächen, Mannigfaltigkeiten. German. 6th updated ed. Heidelberg: Springer Spektrum, 2013. ISBN: 978-3-658-00614-3; 978-3-658-00615-0. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-00615-0.
- [13] Mats G. Larson and Fredrik Bengzon. *The finite element method. Theory, implementation, and applications.* English. Vol. 10. Texts Comput. Sci. Eng. Berlin: Springer, 2013. ISBN: 978-3-642-33286-9; 978-3-642-33287-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-33287-6.
- [14] Peter Zajac. Restricted Element Wise Projection for the Finite Element Method. TU, Fak. für Mathematik, 2014.
- [15] Volker John. Finite element methods for incompressible flow problems. English. Vol. 51.
   Springer Ser. Comput. Math. Cham: Springer, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-45749-9; 978-3-319-45750-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-45750-5.
- [16] Otto Forster. Analysis 2. Differentialrechnung im ℝ<sup>n</sup>, gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen.
   German. 11th edition. Grundkurs Math. Wiesbaden: Springer Spektrum, 2017. ISBN: 978-3-658-19410-9; 978-3-658-19411-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-658-19411-6.
- Singiresu S. Rao. The finite element method in engineering. English. 6th edition. Oxford: Elsevier/Butterworth-Heinemann, 2018. ISBN: 978-0-12-811768-2; 978-0-12-814364-3.
- [18] Dirk Werner. Funktionalanalysis. German. 8th revised edition. Springer-Lehrb. Berlin: Springer
   Spektrum, 2018. ISBN: 978-3-662-55406-7; 978-3-662-55407-4. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-55407-4.
- [19] Alexandre Ern and Jean-Luc Guermond. Finite elements I. Approximation and interpolation. English. Vol. 72. Texts Appl. Math. Cham: Springer, 2020. ISBN: 978-3-030-56340-0; 978-3-030-56342-4; 978-3-030-56341-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-56341-7.
- [20] Alexandre Ern and Jean-Luc Guermond. Finite Elements IV: Exercises and solutions. This documents provides corrections for all the exercises in the three volumes of the book Finite Elements. May 2021. URL: https://hal.science/hal-03226052.
- [21] Wikipedia contributors. Sergei Sobolev Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sergei\_Sobolev.
- [22] L.Ridgway Scott. Personal Website L.Ridgway Scott. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: http://people.cs.uchicago.edu/~ridg/bio.html.
- [23] Ph. Clément. Personal Website Ph. Clément. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://fa.ewi.tudelft.nl/People/.
- [24] Shangyou Zhang. Personal Website Shangyou Zhang. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://sites.google.com/udel.edu/szhang.

- [25] Wikipedia contributors. Augustin-Louis Cauchy Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Augustin-Louis\_Cauchy.
- [26] Wikipedia contributors. Charles B. Morrey Jr. Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Charles\_B. \_Morrey\_Jr..
- [27] Wikipedia contributors. David Hilbert Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/David\_Hilbert.
- [28] Wikipedia contributors. Ernst Sigismund Fischer Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ernst\_ Sigismund\_Fischer.
- [29] Wikipedia contributors. Euclid— Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Euclid.
- [30] Wikipedia contributors. Franz Rellich Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 17-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Franz\_Rellich.
- [31] Wikipedia contributors. Frigyes Riesz Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frigyes\_Riesz.
- [32] Wikipedia contributors. Henri Lebesgue Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Henri\_Lebesgue.
- [33] Wikipedia contributors. Hermann Schwarz Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hermann\_Schwarz.
- [34] Wikipedia contributors. Joseph-Louis Lagrange Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Joseph-Louis\_ Lagrange.
- [35] Wikipedia contributors. Leopold Kronecker Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Leopold\_ Kronecker.
- [36] Wikipedia contributors. Michel Rolle Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Michel\_Rolle.
- [37] Wikipedia contributors. Otto Hölder Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Otto\_H%C3%B6lder.
- [38] Wikipedia contributors. Rudolf Lipschitz Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rudolf\_Lipschitz.

- [39] Wikipedia contributors. Stefan Banach Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stefan\_Banach.
- [40] Wikipedia contributors. Vladimir Kondrashov Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 17-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vladimir\_ Kondrashov.
- [41] Wikipedia contributors. Walther Ritz Wikipedia, The Free Encyclopedia. [Online; accessed 15-April-2023]. 2023. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Walther\_Ritz.
- [42] Otto Forster. Analysis 1: Differential- und Integralrechnung einer Veränderlichen. German.
   12. Aufl. 2016. Grundkurs Mathematik. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden. ISBN: 3658115440.